BENZIE COUNTY
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

448 COURT PLACE — BEULAH, MI 49617 — (231) 882-9671
www.benzieco.net ‘

MEETING AGENDA
April 10,2018

Commissioners Room, Governmental Center, 448 Court Place, Beulah, Michigan

PLEASE TURN OFF ALL ELECTRONIC DEVICES

9:00aim. CALL TO ORDER
ROLL CALL :
INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
APPROVAL OF AGENDA
APPROVAL OF MINUTES - 3/29/2018
PUBLIC INPUT v
ELECTED OFFICIALS & DEPT HEAD COMMENTS
COMMISSIONER REPORTS
COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT
FINANCE — Approval of Bills
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE — Consent
COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS — Centra Wellness, Land Bank
ACTION ITEMS —
1. 2018-011 TNT Millage Resolution
2. 2018-013 EDC/BRA Resolution
PRESENTATION OF CORRESPONDENCE

UNFINISHED BUSINESS
NEW BUSINESS —
10:00 Ron Berns — 911 Surcharge; 2018-012 Telecommunications Week
10:15 Ken Talsma — 2017 Audit Report
10:30 Jennifer Kolinski — 2018-014 Road Commission Millage Resolution
10:45 Greg Grant — Closed Session — Mallon vs BOC — Section 8(e) of OMA
PUBLIC COMMENT
ADJOURNMENT

Times Subject to Change
THE COUNTY OF BENZIE WILL PROVIDE NECESSARY REASONABLE AUXILIARY AIDS AND SERVICES, SUCH AS SIGNERS FOR THE
HEARING IMPAIRED AND AUDIO TAPES OF PRINTED MATERIALS BEING CONSIDERED AT THE MEETING, TO INDIVIDUALS WITH
DISABILITIES AT THE MEETING OR HEARING UPON THIRTY (30) DAYS NOTICE TO THE COUNTY OF BENZIE. INDIVIDUALS WITH
DISABILITIES REQUIRING AUXILIARY AIDS OR SERVICES SHOULD CONTACT THE COUNTY BY WRITING OR CALLING THE
FOLLOWING:
BENZIE COUNTY CLERK
448 COURT PLACE
BEULAH MI 49617
(231) 882-9671

This notice was posted by Dawn Olney, Benzie County Clerk, on the bulletin board in the main entrance of the Benzie County Governmental Center, Beulah,
Michigan, at least 18 hours prior to the start of the meeting. This notice is to comply with Sections 4 and 5 of the Michigan Open Meetings Act (PA 267 of
1976).



PUBLIC INPUT

Purpose: The Benzie County Board of Commissioners is a public policy setting body and
subject to the Open Meetings Act (PA 267 of 1976). The Board also operates under a set of
“Benzie County Board Rules (section 7.3)” which provides for public input during their
meetings. It continually strives to receive input from the residents of the county and reserves
two opportunities during the monthly scheduled meeting for you the public to voice opinions,
concerns and sharing of any other items of common interest. There are however, in concert with
meeting conduct certain rules to follow.

Speaking Time: Agenda items may be added or removed by the board but initially at least
two times are devoted to Public Input. Generally, however, attendees wishing to speak will be
informed how long they may speak by the chairman. All speakers are asked to give their name,
residence and topic they wish to address. This and the statements/comments will be entered into
the public record (minutes of the meeting). Should there be a number of speakers wishing to
voice similar opinions, an option for a longer presentation may be more appropriate for the group
and one or more speakers may talk within that time frame. :

Group Presentations — 15 minutes
Individual Presentations — 3 minutes

Board Response: Generally, as this is an “Input” option, the board will not comment or
respond to presenters. Silence or non-response from the board should not be interpreted as
disinterest or disagreement by the board. However, should the board individually or collectively
wish to address the comments of the speaker(s) at the approval of the Chair and within a time
frame previously established, responses may be made by the board. Additionally, the presenter
may be in need of a more lengthy understanding of an issue or topic and may be referred to a
committee appropriate to address those issues.

Public Input is very important in public policy settings and is only one means for an
interchange of information or dialogue. Each commissioner represents a district within the
county and he/she may be individually contacted should greater depth or understanding of an
issue be sought. Personal contact is encouraged and helpful to both residents and the board.

Commissioner Contacts:

District  I— Bob Roelofs (Almira East of Reynolds Road)............. 231-645-1187
District  II - Art Jeannot (Almira Twp West of Reynolds Road, Platte

and Lake ToOWNShiPs). ..o vevvuiinrienrinineiiieniineanen 231-920-5028
District III - Roger Griner (Crystal Lake, Frankfort).......ccoueeecnenns 231-651-0757
District IV - Coury Carland (Benzomia).......cooeeeeerrrmuiunnieaneninnnn 231-930-7560
District V- Terry Money (Homestead)......c...ooviviiniiiiiiiniieenn 231-510-2400
District VI - Evan Warsecke (Colfax, Inland)...........cccvvviesenenne..231-275-3375
District VII - Gary Sauer (Blaine, Gilmore, Joyfield, Weldon)............. 231-651-0647

February 1, 2017



THE BENZIE COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
March 29,2018

The Benzie County Board of Commissioners met in a regular meeting on Thursday, March 29, 2018,
448 Court Place, Government Center, Beulah, Michigan.

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Gary Sauer at 9:00 a.m.

Present were: Commissioners Carland, Griner, Jeannot, Money, Roelofs, Sauer and Warsecke

The invocation was given by Commissioner Griner followed by the pled legiance.

Agenda
removing 10:00 Toby

arland, Griner,

presented. Ayes: Carland, Griner, Jeannot, Money, Roel
Motion carried.

9:02 a.m. Public Input
Eric VanDussen spoke regarding the lawsuit BOC e OMA violation; proposed
TNT millage language. ; ' '
9:05 a.m. Public Input Clos

ELECTED OFFICIA ~
David Schaffer, Solid ! : %ylstra, the new recycling coordinator for
Benzie County. Mr. Schaff ‘V is i
have entered into.i

id on h1s new position and asks why do you have to market and
EQ offered funding through a grant for recycling education; we
BOC agreed to pursue and encourage ownership. This is a state
rom the landfills.

Jeannot’s comments and welcome to Jesse.

effort to create dlver
Chairman Sauer echo

Motion by Warsecke, seconded by Griner, to accept the DEQ Scrap Tire Cleanup Grant Agreement
as presented, authorizing the chairman to sign. Roll call. Ayes: Carland, Griner, Jeannot, Money,
Roelofs, Sauer and Warsecke Nays: None Motion carried.

Doug Durand, Benzie Senior Resources, provided a written report and spoke regarding the Federal
government passing the 2018 fiscal budget and the Older Americans came out well. Lawn Chores
Spring Cleanup will start April 2, 2018. Recently received grants: Community Chest $15,000; Delta
Dental — applied for $5,000 but have not heard what we will receive; Building Healthy Communities
$2,000 for kitchen equipment. June 8 will be the Senior Expo at Trinity Lutheran Church in
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Frankfort. Senior Project Fresh, will receive over 90 additional coupons this year. Partnering with
Munson Medical Center and Grow Benzie on fresh produce. All programs are up and growing.

Kyle Maurer, Animal Control, presented the 2017 Animal Shelter Annual Report that is required by

the State of Michigan.

Comm Jeannot asked about the potential lawsuit regarding removal of some animals. Mr. Deisch
stated he has been in contact with MMRMA and at this time there is no additional information to

share.

Comm Money asks about the sale of a vehicle — Mr. Maurer stated that Grand Traverse County will

be purchasing a new vehicle, so he will seek out other possibilities for sale. Comm Money stated that
there is another option — suck it up and use it.

Comm Jeannot agrees with Comm Money — use the vehicle.

Comm Money asked that he talk about the change in staffing — Jaime has accepted a job with Grand
Traverse ACO so her leaving is contingent on a background check and physical. If she does end of” u(@
leaving they will need to fill her position and he is working to get the position posted.

COMMISSIONER REPORTS

Comm Griner reported on the MAC transportation committee of which he is a part of; Michigan is
the cheapest for feed available in the nation and we will have a new processing plant near Battle
Creek and they will be processing 10,000 pigs per day. He also spoke about the Ballast water law.

Comm Money stated that we have some fine universities in Michigan as well as Ohio; we don’t want

to copy things that they do. That is the only state in the 9oumy/that«had ariver catch on fire.
Tountey ’V\}H_/

Comm Jeannot attended six meetings on behalf of the county since our last meeting. He yields his

time to those that attended the MAC conference.

Comm Warsecke attended two meetings — Inland Township and Conservation District — they are
holding their seedling sale through April 13.

Comm Carland attended the MAC conference and stated that the State of Michigan is exploring a
state-wide law on septic tanks and drain fields. Michigan Indigent Defense Fund — the state has
determined that it will cost them about $87 million, so now they want the counties to pay more of that
. than we were lead to believe. Fireworks law that was passed by the state a few years ago, has caused
some issues — one being enforcement. Leelanau prepared an Ordinance and then the local units
signed on and the Sheriff Dept does enforcement. School Resource Officer — there may be funds
coming from the State and Federal government. Attended a luncheon on Beaver Island last Saturday
for-the-Airport-Authority.

Comm Roelofs also attended the MAC conference and enjoyed the networking with other
Commissioners — he attended a session on mental health and the courts for education and/or rehab.
All comes down to money. Attended VA breakout sessions; collective bargaining. EMS Advisory is
looking at a used ambulance. Benzie County VA is getting ready for Memorial Day service at noon.
Comm Jeannot asks how the local Veterans would rate us. It is a personality issue. The services out
there are adequate if not better.
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Comm Sauer reported on the Village of Elberta sewer issue; MDOT projects thru 2022 of which we
have three projects set for Benzie county 2019, 2020. Attended the Maples meeting and they are
about 91% occupancy. Chamber discussions regarding economic concerns. Health Dept held
discussions regarding law for septic systems — if it becomes a state law, then we would have to
rescind the Point of Sale Ordinance regarding water — funding is a big issue. Indigent Defense is
another unfunded mandate. Regarding School Resource Officer, the state probably won’t come up
with the money. There was talk about perhaps the officers can sit in the school parking lot to write

themror have lunch at the schools — just their presence is going to help.

Comm Jeannot stated regarding the MDOT meeting, once they have you within 5 years of replacing a
road, they will do nothing but pot holes. SRO — the sinking funds can be used for this purpose.
Comm Jeannot asked about his thought on the conference: Had breakfast the last day with Houghton
County. Everyone seems to have the same issues. There seems to be a lot of jails being built. Was
disappointed with timing and no legislators being there.

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT - Mitch Deisch

e Provided a written update dated March 21, 2018.

e Budget at a Glance.

e Michigan Indigent Defense Commission — appears to be some unfunded mandates coming
down the road regarding this. The law is clear that -- This doesn’t begin until the State of
Michigan provides adequate funding.

e Attended the MAC conference — Crisis Management session — Frank Post is an amazing asset
to our organization. Region 7 pays 40% of his wages and benefits; Frank is viewed across the
state as an expert in this.

e Replacement for David Schaffer: when we have one individual running a department, we
have an issue — Mid-March we found out that David had accepted a position with Grand
Traverse County. Due to the timing, he did not have time to post the position, advertise,
interview. He talked with the SW Advisory chair and Chair Sauer and he called the
individual that was second in the running when Mr. Schaffer was hired. Jesse Zylstra was
contacted and he was still interested.

10:30 a.m. — Sheriff Schendel -- TNT Ballot Language

Millage language — it was recommended that the language be corrected to replace “in Benzie County”
with “...for drug enforcement and awareness programs in the TNT jurisdictions, including Benzie
County, ...”

Sheriff is present with Lt. Dan King of the Michigan State Police. Lt King stated that he is glad that
Benzie County has TNT millage. We are the only county in the area with a millage to fund a TNT
officer. When you fund a position without a millage, what do you get? 15 detectives from the TNT
that do not cost us a dime; undercover officer. You do not pay for meth lab clean up. Eight counties
are members of TNT.

Motion by Carland, seconded by Jeannot, to send resolution 2018-011 to Attorney Dave Stoker for
completion of resolution and ballot language. Ayes: Carland, Griner, Jeannot, Money, Roelofs,
Sauer and Warsecke Nays: None Motion carried.

11:03 a.m. Break
11:11 a.m. Reconvene
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FINANCE

Bills: Motion by Carland, seconded by Warsecke, to approve payment of the bills from March 14,
2018 to March 28, 2018 in the amount of $334,372.59, as presented. Roll call. Ayes: Carland,
Griner, Jeannot, Money, Roelofs, Sauer and Warsecke Nays: None Motion carried.

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE
Chairman Sauer removes item #1. ;
Motion by Warsecke, seconded by Carland, to adopt item 2 of the March413,2018 Committee of the
Whole Consent Calendar as presented. Roll call. Ayes: Carland, Grimer, J eanniot, Money, Roelofs,
Sauer and Warsecke Nays: None Motion carried.

#1: Chairman Sauer stated that he has concerns with county ye
county — it’s a public perception issue.

Comm Money agrees with Chairman Sauer.
Chairman Sauer stated that he believes it is better to
vehicle.
Comm Jeannot says we are talking about people that pr
Expediency is everything. Without testing it, we really don t ,

Motion by Jeannot, seconded by Roelofs, t
vehicles home and come back for review in stx
for approval in the next 60 days. Roll call.
Nays: Griner and Sauer Motion carried.

COMMITTEE APPO

EDC/BRA: AES was originally recommend for hire to help EDC. The BOC approved action as
well as a portion of funding for it. The BOC has leveraged AES time as much as if not more than the
EDC. The EDC board shares some frustration that they have no control or any say over what the
direction of AES does. Request is to acknowledge that AES has solid line responsibility to
EDC/BRA and BOC wants to be updated. AES is to be managed by the EDC.

Ed Kowalski, Chair of EDC/BRA, they are trying to develop a chain of command; EDC wants to
manage AES’s schedule.

Comm Jeannot says EDC is asking to be allowed to manage the AES’s time. BOC needs to
acknowledge that AES was hired to aid in EDC.

Lisa Leedy, AES, stated that she is looking for who to take direction from.
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Comm Carland says the contract needs to be revisited and those performance provisions need to be
added; and a professional county employee to be liaison between AES/EDC/BRA.

Comm Jeannot feels we need to set up a budget with EDC to pay AES.

County Treasurer Michelle Thompson says the contract is with the county — not EDC.

Comm Jeannot says the EDC should be the one that authorizes the payment.

Comm Money would like to study it for a month before deciding.

Mr. Deisch sees this as two prong: 1) do a resolution to lay out what AES is to do; and 2) look at the
contract. He will prepare a resolution with EDC/BRA for action on April 10 Board of '
Commissioner meeting and he will talk in April to the EDC/BRA about

12:03 p.m. Comm Griner leaves.

CORRESPONDENCE

Parks & Recreation minutes of January 22, 2018 r
Road Commission minutes of February 22, 201
Road Commission minutes of March 1, 201
Veterans Affairs minutes of February 5, 2018 r
Benzie Bus February 2018 Statement of Activities r

UNFINISHED BUSINESS — None

NEW BUSINESS — None

12:12 p.m. Public Input — N.

Motion by Warsecke

at 12:12 p.m. Ayes: Carland, Jeannot,
Money, Roelofs, S :

Motion carried.

Gary S ir Dawn Olney, Benzie County Clerk

INDEX

N

ession minutes of March 13, 2018 as presented.

Accepted the crap Tire Cleanup Grant Agreement as presented, auth the chairman to
sign.

4. Approved to send resolution 2018-011 TNT millage request to Attorney Dave Stoker for

completion of resolution and ballot language.

Approved payment of the bills from in the amount of $334,372.59, as presented.

6. Adopted item 2 of the March 13, 2018 Committee of the Whole Consent Calendar as

presented.

W
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7. Approved and supported the request to take Animal Control vehicles home and come back for
review in six (6) months, and that a policy be written and brought for approval in the next 60
days.

8. Adopted resolution 2018-009 authorizing Millage Election for Conservation District as
presented.

9. Adopted resolution 2018-010 Merganser Control Program as presented.




Committee of the Whole — Technology, Human Resources and Finance
Page 5 of 5 '
Marech 13,2018

Motion by Warsecke, seconded by Carland, to approve the Committee of the Whole Consent
Calendar as follows:

1. Removed from Consent Calendar.

2. Approved to amend the 2017-18 Budget for the 425 Account as presented.
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Kathy has worked tirelessly under demanding conditions as a
registered nurse for 39 years and an educator, advocating for
her patients, her students, and their families. Now, she wants to
fight for the people of the 101st District by taking her compassion,

commitment, and strong values to Lansing.

Kathy has lived in Empire Township for 36 years and has three grown
children. She and her husband Kent are co-owners of the family’'s

32-year construction business. Kathy believes people come first!

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENTS

« Member of Leelanau County Housing
Action Committee

- Precinct Delegate for Empire Township

. Sits on Empire Township Zoning Board
of Appeals & Leelanau County Solid
Waste Council

« County captain for Voters Not Politicians
ballotinitiative

« Active member of St. Philip Catholic Church

KATHY101ST.COM | 231.794.2795 | KATHYWIEJACZKA@GMAIL.COM

PAID FOR BY FRIENDS TO ELECT KATHY WIEJACZKA
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BENZIE COUNTY BUILDING CODE AND
SAFETY ENFORCEMENT
JAN-FEB-MARCH
2018




MONTHLY REVENUE 2018

JANUARY
FEBRUARY
MARCH
APRIL

MAY

JUNE

JULY
AUGUST
SEPTEMBER
OCTOBER
NOVEMBER
DECEMBER

TOTAL

40000
35000
30000
25000
20000
15000
10000

5000

14,968
13,972
34,916

63,855

MONTHLY REVENUE 2018

34,916

14,968 13,972



MONTHLY INSPECTIONS .2018

BLDG ELEC MECH PLUMB ~ ALL
JANUARY 56 a9 40 36 - 181
FEBRUARY ] 501 35 39 32 156
MARCH ) 76 a7 26 23 172
APRL -} | ] |
MAY | »_ |
JUNE ] _
JuLY |
AUGUST | |
SEPTEMBER |
OCTOBER | | )
NOVEMBER | )
DECEMBER | |
TOTALS 182 131 105 91 . 509
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JAN
FEB

MARCH
APRIL

MAY

JUNE

JULY
AUG
SEPT
ocCT
NOV
DEC

TOTAL

B

MARCH APRIL

11
12
13
47
52
41
25
40
38
57
32
18

Il 386

MAY

e ) 007
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35

30

25

20

15

10

JAN
FEB
MARCH
APRIL
MAY
JUNE
JULY
AUG
SEPT
ocCT
NOV
DEC

2016

7

10
9

19
16
17
21
14
15
14
24
12

2017 2018

12 3
16 7
12 45
10

31

17

20

19

19

37

21

11

PLUMBING PERMITS/ 3 YEAR CHART

JAN

FEB  MARCH APRIL
s 2016 e 2017 e 2018 e

MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT ocCT NOV DEC
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2016

JAN 18
FEB 15
MARCH 24
APRIL 27
MAY 38
JUNE 39
JULY 28
AUG 32
SEPT 52
ocT 35
NOV 51
DEC 25

2017

26
10
31
35
36
39
43
49
45
78
46
32

2018

18
21
40

ELECTRICAL PERMITS/ 3 YEAR CHART
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|10 ’
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78
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3939 :
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2016 2017 2018

JAN 27 37 18
FEB 20 34 24
MARCH 23 29 29
APRIL 17 14
MAY 31 24
JUNE 22 34
JuLy 22 34
AUGUST 23 35
SEPT 46 55
ocT 46 57
NOV 46 51
DEC 54 45

MECHANICAL PERMITS/ 3 YEAR CHART

--2016 --2017 -9-2018 —o-
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Benzie County Office of Emergency Management

Fasn S Emergency Management Activities
BRI March 2018
Below are outlined many of the activities I have been involved in for the month of March 2018.
1. 2016 AFG Bid Closing
On Monday March 5™, 2018 I attended the bid closing for the radios to be purchased under the
AFG we received. At this meeting, the Almira Township Board accepted the bids and assigned
a committee to review them and recommend to the board a successful bidder. That committee
consisted of;
e Chief Steve Adams, Almira Township Fire and EMS Department,
e Director Ron Berns, Benzie County Central Dispatch,
e Tammy Clous, Almira Township Clerk,
e Mandy Gray-Rineer, Almira Township Treasurer, and;
e Frank Post, Benzie County Office of Emergency Management
A meeting was set for March 7% to review the documents for compliance.
2. Review of AFG Bids
On March 7™, 2018 we met to review the communication bid documents.
BID REVIEW
Grand Traverse Mobile
When reviewing the bids we found that Grand Traverse Mobile was in compliance or willing
to comply with all provisions of our bid document. We did fine that we had specified portable
radios be 5 watts, however, apparently 3 watts is the maximum in the 700/800MHz spectrum.
Grand Traverse Mobile did not specify that as a problem, but it is addressed in their equipment
brochure.
ProComm
In a review of the bid for ProComm we found the following items they where they supplied
clarification or could not comply with.
e Section 3.6 Pagers-Motorola will provide Unication Pagers however, the talkgroup costs
were not included in their proposal (additional $13,500.00)
e 11.1 MPSCS Activation Fees-All MPSCS activation fees, were not included in their
proposal (additional $40,750.00)
e 15.4 Warranty-Would not comply with the provision for radio repairs 24/7 at no additional
charge during the warranty period. Repairs outside business hours were billable.
RECOMMENDATION
It is the recommendation of the committee that the Almira Township Board accept the bid of
Grand Traverse Mobile of 1670 Barlow St. Suite 1, Traverse City, MI 49686 at a price is not to
exceed $605,765.20
3. Benzie County Government Center Safety and Security Meeting

On Thursday March 8™, 2018 we held our monthly Government Center Safety and Security
Meeting. We were advised by the Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority that our
grant for $7,300 was approved and we will work on getting the vendors lined up to do the work.
We also decided that we will determine how many offices do not have PA speakers so we can
start installation of them. The option of using the phone system based on a eves dropping

concern was dropped. R E C E !\“/
APR 04 2018

DAWN OLNEY

D

BENZIE COUNTY CLERK

BEULAH, Ml 49617
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We were a bit disappointed with the attendance at CPR and AED Training according to EMS we
had 9 attendees.

The following were set as upcoming training activities.

A. Tornado Drills-Tentatively set for Scheduled for 4/11/18 from 10:00am to 12:00noon and
1:00pm to 3:00pm

B. Fire Drills — Consolidate with Tornado Drills for lecture portion and schedule an actual fire
drill thereafter. How do we want to organize the drill at a future date.

C. Fire Extinguisher Training —

D. Active Shooter Training —

CodeRED Test

On Thursday March 8%, 2018 we conducted a county wide test of the CodeRED system. This
was the first time we pushed out a notification to the entire county. There were approximately -
10,000 calls made and a recorded message notified our residents of what the CodeRED system
was. 1 received approximately 100 calls, from individuals who only received part of the
message or confused by the message content. Since the call only went to home telephones,
residents were encouraged to register to receive the calls on their cell phones, by e-mail or text
message. I have been helping people register who do not have internet.

Almira Township Board Acceptance of a Bidder for the AFG Grant

On March 12, 2018 we presented the committee recommendation (item #2) to the Almira
Township Board to accept the bid of Grand Traverse Mobile of 1670 Barlow St. Suite 1,
Traverse City, MI 49686 at a price is not to exceed $605,765.20 for the purchase of
700/800MHz radios for the Benzie County Fire and Emergency Medical Services.

School Officials and the Emergency First Responder Meeting

On March 12™, 2018 the Superintendents of Frankfort-Elberta Area Schools, Benzie Central
Schools met with members of law enforcement, Central Dispatch and myself to discuss what is
in place with regard to emergency response to schools and active shooter events in particular.
Since this was the first full meeting, we discussed some strategies going forward. 1 was agreed
that for the foreseeable future we would meet on a monthly basis.

Sky Warn Training combined with CERT Monthly Meeting

On Wednesday March 14®, 2018 we had invited the National Weather Service Office in Gaylord
to come to Benzie County and provide training in Spring and Summer Weather phenomenon.
We had 2 meteorologists instruct approximately 32 attendees on weather events. Our CERT
program members were in attendance at the training and had a short meeting after the training
concluded.

Hazardous Materials Training

On Friday, Saturday and Sunday March 16 through the 18™, 2018 I taught a Hazardous,
Materials and WMD class for new firefighters in Benzie and Manistee Counties. The class
consisted of approximately 12 hours of lecture and 8 hours of practical training on such things as
decontamination, damming and diverting hazardous chemicals. We also setup a
decontamination station and demonstrated its use.

LEPC Meeting

On Monday March 19, 2018 we held our monthly Local Emergency Planning Committee
meeting. we received the listing of all the facilities that are required to file a Tier II report and
all facilities required to submit to offsite planning requirements
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The LEPC also voted to recommend the removal of Magna International from SARA Title IIT
Planning since the facility has closed and all hazardous substances have been removed. Further
they voted to remove the Crystal View Orchards and James Laubach Farms from SARA Title III
planning since they no longer store EHS on site.

10.

Benzie County Fire and EMS Association Meeting

On Tuesday March 20™, 2018 I attended the Benzie County Fire and EMS Association Meeting
that was held at the Government Center, Much of what was covered has also been covered in
other meetings including;  Fire Training Offerings, EMS Training Offerings Smart911 and
CodeRED implementation update, and 800MHz Radio Template Design update.

One of the significant issues under discussion is an update of the Fire Departments Mutual Aid
Agreement. The current agreement does not have a reimbursement provision in it. In the event
the state or federal government were to declare, costs incurred by a fire department were not
reimbursable without the reimbursement provisions.

11.  CodeRED Training Webinar
On Wednesday March 21%, 2018 we participated in a webinar with our partners in the
CodeRED system in Benzie County. Kala Burdett from CodeRED did an hour and a half long
presentation on the creation of an event and the distribution of that event.

12. Local Planning Team Meeting

On Thursday March 22, 2018 we held our LPT Meeting.
Current Grant Projects

o Platte Township Fixed Site Generator for their Township Hall-Approved $6,000 for
EMPG 2016 SHSP Project

o Government Center §00MHz BDA $9,000 EMPG 2016 SHSP Project

» Assistance to Firefighter Grant Application - Regional Application for Communications
for $665,317. (includes $633,636 95% Federal Share and $31,681 5% Local Share)

e Powered Ventilators $16,128 from the Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and Chippewa
Indians 2% Grant Applications

Other projects that are in progress including;

Decontamination Trailer and Equipment-Current Status
Hepatitis A Vaccinations

CodeRED System

Smart911

Benzie County School Safety Group

Upcoming Training

Weather Spotter Training March 14th, 2018 7:00pm Benzie County Government Center
Firefighter I & II Academy in Manistee County starting in January 6th, 2018

EMR Academy in Benzie County starting in September 2018

Firefighter-Flashover Training in the Spring of 2018

Firefighter-Instructor I Training

CERT Basic Academy and Breakout Sessions April 2018 Grayling

Wild Fire Training

Upcoming Exercises
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e Paul Oliver Hospital —Exercise April 18th, 2018
o Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and Chippewa Indians — Mass Casualty Exercise May
1%,2018

13.

Template Design Meeting

On Tuesday March 27%, 2018 we held a radio template design meeting to hammer out the
details regarding what the templates on the radios for Fire and EMS will look like. We had
most of the Benzie County Fire Chiefs, Ron Berns from Central Dispatch, Neil Pickard of
Grand Traverse Mobile and myself in attendance. We were able to complete the design of the
radio templates and Grand Traverse Mobile will put it to paper and send it back to us for final
review.

14.

Damage Assessment Train the Trainer Class

On Wednesday March 28%, 2018 I attended an 8 hour class on Damage Assessment in Lansing
Mi. FEMA suspended all training in Damage Assessment so it could rewrite the procedures
and rules on for Damage Assessment. Damage Assessment is extremely important to do in a
timely and accurate fashion. If done improperly, it can cost a community thousands in
unrecoverable costs in a disaster. I will be putting on a Damage Assessment Training in the
next few months.

15.

AFG Communications Grant Bid Modification
On Thursday March 29%, 2018 a special meeting was held by the Almira Township Board to
review a request to modify the original bid for 800MHz radio equipment.

The AFG 2016 grant was awarded for a total of $665,317.00 with a federal share of
$633,636.00 (95%) and a local share of $31,681.00 (5%). Based on the accepted bid there was
$41,551.80 of unspent or unobligated grant funds.

Some of the improvements included;

24 Amplified Base Stations for the Unication Pagers

89 Drop in Unication Pager Chargers

Vehicular Repeater Software installed in all Portables

Fire Microphones for the Portable Radios

Hi-Viz Green Portable Case

EMS Microphones

Almira Fire and EMS - Department-modified the purchase to include 2 vehicular
chargers in lieu of desktop chargers so that portables could stay in the ambulances and
charge.

e Benzie County EMS - Rack Portable Chargers-Benzie County EMS requested to
purchase 2-6 portable radio rack chargers instead of single portable desk chargers.

While there were a few other minor adjustments in costs, we are asking the Almira Township
Board to amend the original bid approval of $605,765.20 and approve the aforementioned
additions at a cost of $25,762.31. This brings the total 2016 Assistance to Firefighter Grant Bid
Approval to a price not to exceed $631,527.51.

16.

Upcoming Events

I have scheduled the following for the next two months;
April 3" — R7HSPB Meeting Grayling
April 10" — MEMA Board Meeting (Lansing MI)
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April 11" — CERT Monthly Meeting and Training in Bear Lake

April 12" — Government Center Safety and Security Meeting 12:00 noon

April 16" — School Safety Planning Meeting 10:00am in the EOC

April 16™ — Local Emergency Planning Committee 2:00pm in the EOC

April 17® — Benzie County Fire/EMS Association

April 18" — Region 7 Healthcare Coalition region wide exercise (including Paul Oliver
Hospital.

April 24® — Mass Casualty Planning and Response Training-University Center-Gaylord
April 25" and 26" — EOC Management and Operations, University Center-Gaylord
April 26" — Local Planning Team Meeting 7:00pm in the EOC

April 28" — ARES/RACES Meeting Downtown Beulah

April 27% through 29™ — CERT Academy and weekend at Camp Grayling

May 1% — GTB Mass Casualty Exercise in Peshawbestown

May 3" - R7HSPB Meeting Grayling

May 7% through May 10% Great Lakes Homeland Security Conference — Grand Rapids
May 215 — Local Emergency Planning Committee 2:00pm in the EOC

May 15% — Benzie County Fire/EMS Association Meeting

May 21% — School Safety Planning Committee 10:00am in the EOC

May 24" — Local Planning Team Meeting 7:00pm in the EOC

May 26™ — ARES/RACES Meeting Downtown Beulah
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To: Gary Sauer, Chairman Benzie County Board of Commissioners
From: Frank Post, Benzie County Emergency Management Coordinator
te: April 4,2018
Subject: Emergency Operations Center Activation Procedures

As a requirement for eligibility for FEMA grant funds, we are required, from time to time, @ review
and update our emergency plans.  Attached is our Emergency Operations Center Activation
procedures for your review. This does not require any action by the board. However, the board
members should be familiar with the procedures in the event of a county emergency to assure that we
have the ability to function in that emergency.

RECEIVED

APR 04 2018

DAWN OLNEY
BENZIE COUNTY CLERK
BEULAH, #1 49617
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I. PURPOSE

The Benzie County Emergency Operations Center (EOC) provides support to emergency services
deployed for an extended period of time. This manual contains the information necessary to
activate and operate the EOC.

II. ACTIVATION

Authority

The Benzie County Emergency Operations Center (EOC) will be activated as required to facilitate
and coordinate impending or actual emergencies at the direction of the Chairperson of the Benzie
County Board of Commissioners, Benzie County Emergency Management Coordinator or Benzie
County Administrator.

o Level 3 EOC Activation is the Event Monitoring Phase.
o Level 2 EOC Activation is a Partial Activation.
o Level 1 EOC Activation is a Full Activation.

Declaration of Emergency

Under a Local Declaration of Emergency, the Chairman of the Benzie County Board of
Commissioners is granted emergency powers to deal with the emergency. See Public Act 390,
Section 30.410.

A Local Declaration of Emergency must be forwarded to the Emergency Management
Department of Homeland Security Division, in written form, as soon as practical.

The declaration of emergency is valid for seven (7) days and may only be renewed upon consent
of the Benzie County Board of Commissioners. (See sample declaration — Attachment 1).

Alerting

The Benzie County Emergency Management Coordinator with assistance as needed from Benzie
County Central Dispatch, will be responsible for alerting necessary Benzie County EOC staff (See
Benzie County Emergency Operations Center Staff and Alerting Roster - Attachment 2). The size
and composition of the EOC staff will depend upon the emergency. Not all emergency
disciplines will be required for every emergency. Additional staff may be requested should the
emergency escalate or the response become protracted.

Setup

The Benzie County EOC is located in the Benzie County Government Center at 448 Court Place
Room 134 on the lower level. (See EOC floor plan - Attachment 3).

Additional furniture may be required to be brought into the EOC from non-essential areas in the
building. Conference rooms will be set-up according to the EOC layout plan. The Emergency
Management Coordinator is responsible for this action.

The Emergency Management Coordinator is also responsible for arranging for necessary
equipment and supplies for the EOC. Such equipment and supplies include: copying machines,
computers, display equipment, calculators, fax equipment, wireless cards, typewriters, and
sufficient office supplies. Emergency Management Coordinator will provide boxes for each
annex holder and will include report and message forms, emergency resource information
material, phone extensions, copies of the Benzie County Emergency Action Guidelines, etc.
Benzie County Equalization Department is responsible for setup and securing of additional maps.

Page 1
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Communications equipment is available in the EOC Radio Room and from Benzie County
Central Dispatch. Supplemental portable equipment is available in the Emergency Management
Office. Amateur radio equipment is housed in the EOC Radio Room and additional equipment
can be secured by contacting the Benzie County RACES Amateur Radio, Emergency
Coordinator. The telephones designated for the EOC will be placed in the conference room and
made ready to use by EOC personnel or a designee.

The Public Information-Media Center for Benzie County will be located in the County
Commissioners Chambers in the Benzie County Government Center. The Public Information-
Media Center may be opened on the order of the Benzie County Board Chairperson, Benzie
County Administrator, or Emergency Management Coordinator. ~ The Government Center
Maintenance Department is responsible for set-up of these spaces in cooperation with the
designated Benzie County Public Information Officer.

Arrangements will be made by Emergency Management Coordinator personnel to make
arrangements for feeding EOC staff.

In the event primary Benzie County EOC spaces are damaged, not usable, or are located within a
direct hazard area, the functions of the Benzie County EOC will be relocated to spaces located at
the Benzie Transportation Authority Facility located on US 31 east of Honor at 14150 US-31,
Beulah, MI.  Suitable protected space is available in this facility. ~All necessary equipment,
supplies, and materials will be relocated to the Benzie Transportation Authority building.
Portable and other radio equipment, as well as cellular telephones would be used until radio and
telephone services were available. Emergency power may also need to be installed or arranged
for. Lodging and feeding facilities for incident management staff is available near the facility.

III.OPERATIONAL PROCEDURES
Mobilization of Staff

In the event of a threatened or actual emergency situation, officials comprising the EOC
Executive-Command Section for Benzie County will be convened, the appropriate mobilization
of EOC staff directed, and necessary incident command functions established. ~ EOC staff
members are to report to the Benzie County EOC in a timely manner.

Volunteer Positions

Benzie County utilizes Citizen Emergency Response Team (CERT) members to serve in the
positions defined below. Training will be provided, credentials provided and a background
check on these volunteers has been conducted.

o The Reproduction Specialist is a member of the Planning Section and handles document
reproduction and serves as an assistant to the Documentation Unit Leader.

e The Display Processor is a member of the Planning Section and is responsible for
information display. That includes distributing and displaying any new information that
comes into the EOC. The Display Processor also serves as graphic support for the EOC.

o The Phone Operator is a member of the Command Staff and facilitates communications,
coordinates the intake and distribution of EOC phone messages and serves as a direct link for
the public and area agencies to the EOC.

o The Administrative Assistant is a member of the Finance/Administration Section and
facilitates and coordinates all administrative needs.

Page 2
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e The Clerical Assistant is a member of the Finance/Administration Section and facilitates and
coordinates all administrative needs.

Security and Sign-In

Available Law Enforcement resources are responsible for the physical security of the EOC and its
critical systems. An EOC roster and sign-in sheet will be utilized.

Shift Scheduling

As soon as possible after mobilizing staff for the EOC, shift schedules should be developed by
each section, activated, personnel notified, and the schedule posted on the bulletin board. Relief
shifts should arrive 30 minutes early so that a briefing can be conducted on what has occurred.

Briefings and Conferences

Briefings for the EOC Executive-Command Section should be scheduled at four hour intervals at
a minimum. The Emergency Management Coordinator will post briefing schedules. EOC
Section Chiefs should be prepared to participate in these briefings and may be requested to
summarize their sections progress or problems. The briefing by each section activated should
include:

1. Unresolved problems.

2. Major new problems.

3. Assistance or resources needed.

4. Information to be shared with other sections or the public.

Additional briefings may be arranged at the request of the EOC Section Chiefs. These may
include VIP and new media briefings, and situation reviews for state and federal representatives.

Conferences of key EOC staff may be convened at any time by Benzie County Emergency
Management Coordinator, the Benzie County Administrator, or the Chairperson of the Benzie
County Board to discuss or resolve major issues. Meetings will generally be held in the
Conference Room adjacent to the EOC. The Benzie County Emergency Management
Coordinator will record these meetings, as well as all official actions taken by the Executive-
Command Section and/or the Chairperson of the Benzie County Board.

The Benzie County Emergency Management Coordinator will be responsible for ensuring that
any decisions reached at the meetings are quickly relayed to the appropriate EOC Section Chiefs
or the appropriate jurisdiction and agency.

Reports

The Benzie County Emergency Management Coordinator is responsible for ensuring that all
required reports are forwarded to the state and federal authorities as requested. They are also
responsible for forwarding any special reports on damage, threats, and requests for assistance.
The Planning and Assessment Section is primarily responsible for preparing the reports and
requests. Updated reports will be entered on MI CIMS.

Public Information

The designated Benzie County Public Information Officer is responsible for informing EOC staff
of special information needed to adequately respond to news media and citizen inquires. A
Public Information-Media Center will generally be activated and supervised by the Public
Information Officer. The location of the Benzie County Public Information-Media Center and
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services available should be disseminated to all emergency services and news media in the
county.

IV. COMMUNICATION PROCEDURES

Benzie County Central Dispatch will be the primary agency responsible for warnings, emergency
communication, and dispatching of resources. Several methods will be utilized to receive and
transmit emergency information at the EOC. The telephone system, including fax and cellular
service, the radio systems to include 800 MHz and two-VHF channels (fire and EMS and
Coordination), the LEIN system, MI CIMS, amateur radio, and messengers may be used for
communicating information. ~Communication information should be logged by all operating
sections and services.

Message System

The following describes the responsibilities of the various elements of the EOC staff in receiving
and processing incoming and outgoing information. These procedures will be followed in the
event the information cannot be forwarded via telephone or radio.

Incoming Information

1. Incoming Calls — Call takers will be responsible for handling incoming calls. Calls will be
forwarded to necessary EOC personnel.

2. Communications Personnel/Central Dispatch - Upon receipt of information reporting a new
development or problem, calls will be transferred to EOC call takers for proper logging.

3. Sections and Agencies — Take any necessary action and coordinate with other sections as
required. Make entries and update displays as required. Continue follow-up until problem is
resolved or no further action is necessary.

Outgoing Information

Originator — Each annex representative is responsible for logging follow up calls in a timely
manner. Log messages in MI CIMS.

Telephone System

The EOC telephone numbers will initially be utilized when the Benzie County EOC is activated.
Additional telephone services will be added as needed. ~Cellular telephones will be utilized to
assist regular telephone services.

Information and messages should be processed in a manner similar to messages via the radio or
intercom. The EOC sections, agencies, and officials will have telephone capability. In most
cases, calls for these services or officials should be transferred to the individual service or official.
If the line is being utilized, announce the call over the PA system, activate call waiting, voice
mail, and/or forward the information via message. Fax services will be utilized as appropriate to
send and receive information and material. (See EOC Phone Extensions — Attachment 2).

DISPLAY PROCEDURES

One of the purposes of the EOC is to facilitate the centralized collection and sharing of
information to ensure a coordinated and timely response. All sections in the EOC must maintain
display devices so others can quickly comprehend the current station, actions being taken, and
what resources are available.  Display needs may vary with the nature and scope of the
emergency, but the following charts should be initiated whenever the EOC is activated.

CAN Report (Conditions, Actions, Needs)
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The Operations Section and Emergency Management Coordinator will be responsible for
maintaining the CAN Report. The CAN will be arranged in columns for problem numbers,
time/date, the nature of the problem, location, response agency, response, and remarks.

Situation and Assessment Display

The Planning and Assessment Section and Benzie County Equalization staff will be responsible
for maintaining current information on the maps.

Shelter-Status Chart

Human Services and Shelter officials will be responsible for maintaining shelter status charts,
which include information on shelter locations, space available, contact person, telephone
number, and resources needed.

Resource Chart

The Planning and Assessment Section, in cooperation with the Operations Section, shall be
responsible for maintaining the resource chart, which displays the status, deployment, and
availability of emergency services.

Other Displays

Other display material may be used or developed as indicated. Displays may include evacuation
routes, flood areas, hazard locations, etc.

DEACTIVATION PROCEDURES

The Benzie County EOC will be deactivated as authorized by the Chairperson of the Benzie
County Board. The Emergency Management Coordinator and various Section Chief’s shall be
responsible for preparing the required after action reports, inventorying, and restocking supplies.

The Emergency Management Coordinator shall be responsible for disconnecting and storage of
communications equipment and supplies and assure furniture and equipment are moved back to
their day-to-day locations.

Government Center Maintenance Staff shall be responsible for clean-up of the spaces and
checking major services (i.e. generators, air handling, etc.)

VII. AUTHENTICATION
04/06/2018
Date Frank Post, Emergency Management Coordinator
Benzie County Emergency Management
VIII. ATTACHMENTS

Attachment 1 — Sample Declaration
Attachment 2 — Benzie County Emergency EOC Staff Roster - Phone Numbers/Extensions
Attachment 3 — Floor Plan of EOC

Original Date: | 08/01/2003
Revision Date: | 04/06/2018
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Attachment 1: Format for Requesting a Governor’s Emergency or Disaster
Declaration and State Assistance

To: Governor, State of Michigan

On (insert date), pursuant to Section 10 of 1976 PA 390, as amended, | declared that a "state of emergency" exists in (insert name of
political jurisdiction) due to (describe the type of incident — e.q.. tornado, flood, ice storm, etc.) which caused widespread and severe
damage, injury or loss of life and property. The response and recovery elements of the (insert name of political jurisdiction) Emergency
Operations Plan have been activated, and local resources are being utilized to the fullest possible extent. Despite these efforts, local
resources are not sufficient to cope with the situation.

Therefore, in accordance with Section 12 of 1976 PA 390, as amended, | deem this incident to be beyond the control of this political
subdivision and | respectfully request, for and on behalf of the citizens of this political subdivision, that you declare that a "state of disaster"
or "state of emergency” exists therein and that consideration be given, if conditions warrant, to petitioning the President of the United
States for assistance provided by Public Law 93-288, as amended. In support of this request, we will submit specific damage assessment
information through official channels and in accordance with the guidance provided by the Emergency Management and Homeland
Security Division of the Michigan State Police (MVSP/EMHSD) within three to seven (3-7) days of this incident, unless circumstances dictate
an earlier submittal as requested by the MSP/EMHSD. Furthermore, | understand that this request will not be acted upon without
sufficient damage assessment information to substantiate the need for assistance, and | acknowledge that it is the responsibility of (insert
name of political jurisdiction) to provide that information in the manner prescribed by the MSP/EMHSD.

Specifically, | request the following state assistance to supplement local response and recovery efforts: (Describe the assistance needed
to cope with the situation — e.q., state law enforcement officers to staff eight access control points; five dump trucks and front-end loaders
plus operators for debris removal; 50 traffic barricades for traffic control; state law enforcement officers to provide 24-hour security for eight
severely damaged schools; forestry crews to assist with hazard tree removal; engineers to assess damaged roads, bridges, and drains;
etc.).

Accordingly, be advised that (insert namettitle of local official — usually the Emergency Manager) will provide liaison and coordination with
state and federal authorities for assistance related to this incident, and in accordance with Section 14 of 1976 PA 390, as amended,
he/she is directed to transmit this request to the MSP/EMHSD.

Authorized by: (insert nameftitle of chief executive)

Submittal Instructions

1. This request must be promptly forwarded (via the Ml CIMS as an attachment to the EM Program Status board, or by e-mail,
facsimile, or LEIN as a backup only if the MI CIMS is inoperable or not accessible / available) to the Commanding Officer of
the Emergency Management and Homeland Security Division, Michigan State Police (e-mail address: emdseoc@michigan.gov;
facsimile # 517/333-4987. LEIN code: ELES), and the appropriate MSP/EMHSD District Coordinator, in the same manner as the
local “state of emergency” declaration.

2. If the MI CIMS is inoperable or not accessible / available and using e-mail, facsimile, or LEIN will delay the information, the
telephone should be used. If telephone service is not available, radio may be used. Mi CIMS or hardcopy confirmation must be
forwarded as soon as possible.

3.  This request will not be acted upon without sufficient information to substantiate the need for assistance.

4 In accordance with Section 12 of 1976 PA 390, as amended, the chief executive official of a county or municipality may initiate or
authorize this request for their political subdivision.

5. A copy of this request should be kept on file with the local Clerk (County Clerk for counties; City or Township Clerk for municipal
emergency management programs). A copy will also be available within the Mi CIMS, as a back-up.
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Attachment 2: Benzie County Emergency EOC Staff Roster
— Phone Numbers/Extensions

X . Last U April 4, 2018
Benzie County EOC Callout List - i S
Last Name First Name Agency Home Number Work Number Cell Number E-mail
Saver [Gary ~ BCBC-Chair 1(231) 651-0647 | Garysauer53@yahoo.com
Wcrsecke ~__Evan _ |BCBC-Vice ChOlI’ o ) (231) 275-3375 ‘ewarsecke@benzweco net
Cariand _ Coury __BCBC (231) 930-7560 (231)930-7560 _ ccarand@benzieconet
Deisch _ _Mitchell . 'BCBC (231)887-5052  (231)882-0558 | mdeisch@benzieco.net
‘Post Frank BCOEM (616) 929-5834 (231) 882-0567 1(231) 383-2553 | fpost@benzieco.net
Schendel  Ted . BCSO  (231)325-0095  (231)882-4484 (231)651-0365 _tschendel@berzieconet )
Rosa Kvle 'BCSO b E (231)882-4484  (231)383-2419  Hamerson@benzieco.net
Lozowski =~ Rob FPD . ! 1(231) 6510534 | police.chief@cofrankfort.net
‘Adams  Steve __ AlmiraTwp FD _1(231)342-2837 _ btfd58@gmail.com
Thompson  [Charles _ Frankfort FD AN . (231) 6510045 _frankfortfire@hotmail.com
‘Berns |Ronald BCCD (231)651-0359  (231)882-4487 (231) 6510359  rberns@benzieco.net
nbach Lo BCCD  (231)882-4487 _ (231)835:0315 _lautenbach@benzieconet
_DHS I (231)882-1302  [(231)218-3021 chigan.gov ¥
Davis DHS Sl (231)882-1314  (231)218-3021  davisd21@michigangoy
Johnson _BCRC (231) _2»148,—1_0,77“ (231) 325-3051 (231) 649-1875 _ bereshop@benzieroad.org o
‘Skeels Aatt ____BCRC (231)922-8147 | (231)325-3051 ext. 207 (231) 590-2260  bcrcmanager@benzieroad org
‘Hw derson James _[BCEMS : - ; _(231) 325-0035 _.[231) 651-9702 | jhenderson@benzieco.
'Homgfon‘ 'Sandi :POMH Work (231) 352- 2297 shonigfort@mhc.net
] 7 {Pager (231) 6080040
Kein  Michelle BLHD . I - 1(231)256-0210 _(231) 6339544 mklein@bldhd.org
Reardon  James ~  BIHD I (231)256-0235  (231)620-1757 _ ireardon@bldhd.org
‘Peacock Lsa . BLHD _ - (231)882-2112  _ (231)633-1705 Ipeacock@bldhd.org
Flynn _Michael RACES . [231) 882-7936 (231) 4090149 ka8cw.home@gmail.com .
Paris Bl _RACES _(231) 352-7093 D e == e
‘Longanbach  Tom : BCEQ . i (231)882-0015  (231)383-0871 _ tlonganbach@benzieco net
-Engelhuber linda Equalization ) (231) 882-0015 o ) lengelhuber@benzieco.net
‘deCastro Michael MSP EMD . 1989)731-3805 _1(231) 499-8266 _ decastro@michigan.gov
‘Hanchett ~ David =~ CERT. (231) 735-9535 ] = 1(231) 409-3282 _ dave@hanchettnet
Gibson __Lawrence CERT = (231)398-2260  _  (231) 690-2843  ligibson.emops@gmail.com .
American Red Cross (Traverse City) Meghan Powers  (231) 947-7286 meghan.powers3@redcross.org
7 (231) 499-8047  Ext 7411 7
Stiebel Christopher Salvation Army (231) 723-6243 (616) 401-3358  'chris_stiebel@usc.salvationarmy.org
Warfield James (616)822-3329  Iames warfield@usc.salvationarmy.org
Emergency Operchons Center (231) 8820567 (EOC & Offce)
(Benzie County Government Center Room 134) (231) 882-0841 (Communications)
: (231) 882-0842 (EOC & Office Alternate)
(FAX (231) 882-0568
. . . COMM Van Phone System Cell Phones
.Emergency Operations Communications Van (COMM Van) (231) 383-0054 (231) 383-1729
and and
I — . ‘ ) (231) 383-1205 _(231)383-1672
Benzie County Central Dispatch (Non-Emergency) (231) 882-4487
EOC Section Phone Numbers/Extensions
Center Main Line (231) 882-0567
Center FAX Line (Also has an attached phone) (231) 882-0568
Conference Phone (231) 882-0842
EOC Communications (Amateur Radio Position) | (231)
EOC Communications (Dispatch Position) (231) 882-0841
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Members of the Board of Commissioners
County of Benzie, Michigan

448 Court Place

Beulah, Michigan 49617

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information, of the County of Benzie, Michigan, as of and for the year ending September 30, 2017, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in
the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
g P

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the
financial statements of the Benzie Transportation Authority, which represents 12 percent, 16 percent, and 17 percent,
respectively, of the assets, net position, and revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component units. We also
did not audit the financial statements of the County Medical Care Facility, which represents 68 percent, 58 percent,
and 77 percent, respectively, of the assets, net position, and revenues of the business-type activities. Those statements
were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the
amounts included for the Benzie Transportation Authority and the County Medical Care Facility are based solely
on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The financial statements of the County
Medical Care Facility were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

16978 S. RILEY AVENUE 1 (906) 495-5952 / FAX 495-7312

VIMALIEI AR RIS AN 20700 Eomaail andaslr@antanly anms



Honorable Chairman and Members
of the Board of Commissioners
County of Benzie, Michigan

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our report and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the County of Benzie, Michigan, as of September 30, 2017, and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and analysis, employee retirement and benefits systems and budgetary comparison schedules on pages 4 through 9,
pages 63 through 65, and pages 66 through 68 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We and other auditors have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the
County of Benzie, Michigan’s basic financial statements. The combining nonmajor fund financial statements and
statistical information are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as
required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of the basic financial
statements.



Honorable Chairman and Members
of the Board of Commissioners
County of Benzie, Michigan

The combining nonmajor fund financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining nonmajor fund financial statements
and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole.

The statistical information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 19, 2018 on our
consideration of the County of Benzie, Michigan's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the County of Benzie, Michigan's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.
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Anderson, Tackman & Company, PL.C
Certified Public Accountants
Kincheloe, Michigan
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County of Benzie, Michigan

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
September 30, 2017

As managers of the County of Benzie, Michigan, we offer readers of the County’s financial statements this
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the County for the fiscal year ended September 30,
2017. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here, in conjunction with additional information
that is furnished in the financial statements and notes to the financial statements:

Financial Highlights

e Net position for the County was reported at $27,828,384 for 2017 and was $17,550,803 for 2016, an
increase of 59%. For 2017, net position for our business-type activities was $15,527,049 or 56% of total
net position, while net position in our governmental activities was $12,301,335 or 44% of total net position.

e At September 30, 2017, Benzie County’s governmental funds report a combined fund balance of
$4,792,721 compared to $4,657,460 in 2016.

e At September 30, 2017, the fund balance for the general fund was $1,808,812 with $17,863 nonspendable
for prepaid items.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County’s basic financial statements. The
County’s basic financial statements are comprised of five components: 1) government-wide financial statements,
2) fund financial statements, 3) notes to the financial statements, 4) required supplementary information and 5)
other information.

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the County’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the County’s assets, deferred outflows of resources and
liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the County is improving or
deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed during the
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are principally supported
by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover
all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental
activities of the County include Legislative, Judicial, General Government, Public Safety, Public Works, Health
and Welfare, and Culture and Recreation. The business-type activities of the County include the Medical Care
Facility, Delinquent Tax Revolving, and Emergency Medical Services funds.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the County itself (known as the primary government),
but also legally separate component units for which the County is financially accountable. Component Units
include the Benzie County Road Commission, Benzie/Leelanau District Health Department, Benzie Transportation
Authority, and Benzie Economic Development Corporation. Financial information for component units are
reported separately from the financial information presented for the primary government itself.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 10-11 of this report.
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Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The County, like other state and local
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance related legal requirements.
All of the funds of the County can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable
resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information
may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand
the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet
and the governmental fund statement on revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance provide a
reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The County maintains many individual funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental fund
balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance for
the General and Jail Operations, each of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental
funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these Nonmajor
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

The County adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general and special revenue funds.
The governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 12-14 of this report.

Proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in
the government-wide financial statements. Services for which the County charges customers a fee are generally
reported in proprietary funds. The Medical Care Facility, Delinquent Tax Revolving, and Emergency Medical
Services are reported as major proprietary funds.

The proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 15-17 of this report.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources
of those funds are not available to support the County’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is
much like that used for proprietary funds.

The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on page 18 of this report.
Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to fully

understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the
financial statements can be found on pages 21-62 of this report.



County of Benzie, Michigan

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
September 30,2017

Required Supplementary Information. Required supplementary information related to the County’s pension and
health plans can be found on pages 63-65 and budgetary comparison information related to the County’s major
governmental funds can be found on pages 66-68 of this report.

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents
certain other information. This includes the combining nonmajor fund financial statements. Combining nonmajor
fund financial statements can be found on pages 69-83 of this report.

Government-wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. In the
case of Benzie County, net position exceeded liabilities by $27,828,384 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.

Benzie County

Net Position
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Cufrent Assets $ 6,135,153 $ 5,230,915 $ 9,434,478 $ 8,333,943 $15.569,631 $ 13,564,858
Capital Assets 11,314,373 11,406,469 14,663,330 5,690,405 25,977,703 17,096,874
Total Assets 17,449,526 16,637,384 24,097,808 14,024,348 41,547,334 30,661,732
Deferred Outflows

of Resources 1,246,787 2,073,154 966,338 1,453,748 2,213,125 3,526,902
Current Liabilities 623,955 995,471 1,205,600 502,461 1,829,555 1,497,932
Noncurrent Liabilities 5,771,023 11,817,006 8,175,215 3,322,893 13,946,238 15,139,899
Total Liabilities 6,394,978 12,812,477 9,380,815 3,825,354 15,775,793 16,637,831
Deferred Inflows

of Resources - - 156,282 - 156,282 -
Net Position

Net Investment in

Captial Assets 11,150,212 5,373,952 8,858,662 5,543,144 20,008,874 10,917,096

Restricted 2,477,301 2,577,023 - - 2,477,301 2,577,023

Unrestricted (1,326,178) (2,052,914) 6,668,387 6,109,598 5,342,209 4,056,684
Total Net Position . $12,301,335 $ 5,898,061 $15,527,049 $ 11,652,742 $27,828,384 $ 17,550,803

A large portion of the County’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, equipment
and construction in progress); less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The County
uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future
spending. Although the County’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted
that the resources needed to repay the debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
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In addition to the net position invested in capital assets, certain other restrictions on use of net position apply due
primarily to legal guidelines. The restricted net position total was $2,477,301. The remaining balance of
unrestricted net position of $5,342,209 may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and
creditors.

Benzie County
Changes in Net Position
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Program Revenues
Charges for Services $ 3,493,336 $ 2,552,697 $ 8,967,445 $ 8,206,506 $ 12,460,781 $ 10,759,203
Operating Grants and
Contributions 937,835 867,694 - - 937,835 867,694
Capital Grants and
Contributions 139,072 691,573 3,222,817 - 3,361,889 691,573
General Revenues
Property Taxes 7,426,728 7,193,059 2,132,833 1,090,208 9,559,561 8,283,267
State Revenue Sharing 343,100 339,785 - - 343,100 339,785
Investment Earnings -
Unrestricted 7,833 8,275 18,443 25,584 26,276 33,859
Other Revenue 108,902 228,642 - - 108,902 228,642
Total Revenues 12,456,806 11,881,725 14,341,538 9,322,298 26,798,344 21,204,023
Program Expenses
Legislative 92,509 92,518 - - 92,509 92,518
Judicial 1,073,126 1,129,991 - - 1,073,126 1,129,991
General Government 2,067,387 2,072,646 - - 2,067,387 2,072,646
Public Safety 4,422 444 4,407,002 - - 4,422 444 4,407,002
Public Works 715,782 333,871 - - 715,782 333,871
Health and Welfare 1,481,043 1,480,288 - - 1,481,043 1,480,288
Recreation and Culture 48,336 42,784 - - 48,336 42,784
Interest Expense - Unallocated 187,714 212,068 - - 187,714 212,068
Other Expenses 1,772,717 2,215,943 - - 1,772,717 2,215,943
Medical Care Facility - - 8,368,145 7,163,980 8,368,145 7,163,980
Tax Collection - - 123,037 99,565 123,037 99,565
Emergency Medical Services - - 1,785,632 1,684,510 1,785,632 1,684,510
Sheriff Commissary - - 7,528 13,213 7,528 13,213
Total Expenses 11,861,058 11,987,111 10,284,342 8,961,268 22,145,400 20,948,379
Excess (Deficiency)
Before Transfers 595,748 (105,386) 4,057,196 361,030 4,652,944 255,644
Transfers 182,889 (34,203) (182,889) 34,203 - -
Changes in Net Position 778,637 (139,589) 3,874,307 395,233 4,652,944 255,644
Net Position - Beginning -
Restatement 11,522,698 6,037,650 11,652,742 11,257,509 23,175,440 17,295,159
Net Position -~ Ending $ 12,301,335 $ 5,898,061 $ 15,527,049 $ 11,652,742 $ 27,828,384 $ 17,550,803
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Financial Analysis of the Government Funds

As noted earlier, Benzie County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements.

Governmental funds: The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on near term
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in accessing the County’s
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s
net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

The County’s general fund is the chief operating fund of the County. The County’s ending fund balance for the
general fund was $1,808,812.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The General Fund realized $316,036 more in revenues than anticipated for the fiscal year. The General Fund
operations also expended $12,493 less than appropriated. Operating Transfers In/Out were less than budgeted and
resulted in a negative net budget variance of $7,577.

All of the General Fund services departments expended less than the budgeted amount for departmental operations in
2017 with the exception of public safety and other expenditures. Elected Officials and Department Heads continue to
exhibit diligence across the board of keeping within budget parameters or identifying problems before they occur.

Over the course of the year the County Board amended the General Fund budget to reflect adjustments in revenues and
expenditures that developed in the year.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration
Capital Assets:

At September 30, 2017 the County had $25,977,703 invested in a range of assets. This includes a net increase of
$8,880,829 from last year as additions exceeded depreciation and deletions.

Benzie County
Capital Assets
(net of depreciation)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Land $ 5,931,926 § 5931926 $§ 47424 % 47424 § 5979350 $ 5,979,350
Construction in Progress - - - 3,914,673 - 3,914,673
Buildings and Improvements 4,548,404 4,770,372 13,081,319 1,313,396 17,629,723 6,083,768
Land Improvements 50,415 55,682 69,270 3,164 119,685 58,846
Machinery and Equipment 783,628 648,489 1,465,317 411,748 2,248,945 1,060,237
Total $11,314373  $ 11,406,469  $14,663330 § 5,690,405 § 25977703  $17,096,874
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Additional information on the County’s capital assets can be found in Note 4 on pages 31-34 of this report.

Debt Administration

At the end of fiscal year 2017, the County had outstanding bond debt in the amount of $5,610,000. This was due to
decreasing its bond debt in the amount of $395,000. All bonds are backed by the County’s full faith and credit of
the government. The remainder of the County’s debt is comprised of bond premiums, installment loans,

compensated absences, OPEB, and net pension liabilities.

The County reduced its bond debt by $395,000 in principal payments.

Debt Administration
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Bonds $ 90,000 $ 6,005000 § 5520,000 $ - § 5610000 § 6,005,000
Bond Premium - 112,686 - - - 112,686
Installment Payables 74,161 27,517 284,668 147,261 358,829 174,778
Net Pension Liability 5,617,526 5,958,751 2,647,924 3,100,044 8,265,450 9,058,795
Compensated Absences 132,803 117,721 147,612 125,369 280,415 243,090
Total $ 5,914,490  $ 12221675 § 8600204 § 3372,674 $14,514,694  $15,594,349

Additional information on the County’s long-term debt can be found in Note 6 on pages 35-38 of this report.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

One large capital project is expected to continue in FY 2017-18, notably construction with the Point Betsie
Lighthouse. These projects will impact two operational departments, notably the Treasurer’s office (who provides
grant administration and support to the County Building Authority) and the Building Department (permits and
inspections).

Benzie County’s financial challenges are being addressed through a new strategic plan that will eventually provide
multi-year budgeting and projections. The County will also establish processes to closely monitor capital and
operational expenses. While the fiscal performance in FY 2016-17 was significantly better than expected, the
concerns with personal property tax reduction, court reform and state revenue sharing, along with containing
operational costs will be diligently monitored.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the County’s finances for all those with an
interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to: Benzie County, 448 Court Place, Beulah,
Michigan, 49617.
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County of Benzie, Michigan

ASSETS:
Cash and Equivalents - Unrestricted
Cash and Equivalents - Restricted
Investments
Receivables:
Accounts
Loans
Taxes
Interest
Notes
Prepaid Items
Due from Governmental Units
Other Assets
Inventories
Net Pension Asset
Capital Assets (Not Depreciated)
Capital Assets (Net of Accumulated Depreciation)

TOTAL ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Pension Investment Experience and Contributions

LIABILITIES:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Accrued Interest Payable
Due to Others
Advances from State
Installment Loans - Due within one year
Installment Loans - Due int more than one year
Bonds Payable - Due within one year
Bonds Payable - Due in more than one year
Other Post Employment Benefits - Due in more than one year
Net Pension Liability - Due in more than one year
Vested Employee Benefits - Due in more than one year

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Pension Investment Experience

NET POSITION:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Statement of Net Position

September 30, 2017
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Totals Units
$ 4,169,870 $ 3,688,898 $ 7,858,768 $ 1,827,703
- 314,083 314,083 -
145,508 3,046,850 3,192,358 -
263,610 1,171,369 1,434,979 917,527
865,932 - 865,932 -
657,911 968,727 1,626,638 -
- 103,316 103,316 -
- - - 63,618
32,322 3,591 35,913 34,136
- - - 305,048
- 137,644 137,644 -
- - - 297,889
- - - 74,510
5,931,926 47,424 5,979,350 1,699,861
5,382,447 14,615,906 19,998,353 17,461,026
17,449,526 24,097,808 41,547,334 22,681,318
1,246,787 966,338 2,213,125 645,758
387,443 464,280 851,723 269,542
89,057 224,551 313,608 146,485
3,988 - 3,988 -
- 91,780 91,780 -
- - - 247,727
53,467 99,989 153,456 7,277
20,694 184,679 205,373 103,961
90,000 325,000 415,000 -
- 5,195,000 5,195,000 -
- - - 3,353
5,617,526 2,647,924 8,265,450 5,036,327
132,803 147,612 280,415 159,989
6,394,978 9,380,815 15,775,793 5,974,661
- 156,282 156,282 33,118
11,150,212 8,858,662 20,008,874 19,168,164
2,477,301 - 2,477,301 -
(1,326,178) 6,068,387 5,342,209 (1,848,867)
$ 12,301,335 $ 15,527,049 $ 27,828,384 $ 17,319,297
10



County of Benzie, Michigan

Statement of Activities
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Net (Expense) Revenue and

Program Revenues Changes in Net Position
Operating Capital Primary Government
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental — Business-type Component
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions _Contributions Activities Activities Total Units
Governmental Activities:
Legislative $ 92,509 $ - 8 -8 -3 92,509) $ -8 (92,509) §$ -
Judicial 1,073,126 255,461 210,714 - (606,951) - (606,951) -
General Government 2,067,387 555,261 218,970 - (1,293,156) - (1,293,156) -
Public Safety 4,422,444 1,395,428 113,488 - (2,913,528) - (2,913,528) -
Public Works 715,782 333,135 345,576 - (37,071) - (37,071) -
Health and Welfare 1,481,043 953,595 49,087 39,596 (438,765) - (438,765) -
Recreation and Culture 48,336 456 - 99,476 51,596 - 51,596 -
Interest Expense - Unallocated 187,714 - - - (187,714) - (187,714) -
Other Expenses 1,772,717 - - - (1,772,7117) - (1,772,7117) -
Total Governmental Activities 11,861,058 3,493,336 937,835 139,072 (7,290,815) - (7,290,815) -
Business-type Activities:
Tax Collection 123,037 649,158 - - - 526,121 526,121 -
Emergency Medical Services 1,785,632 979,634 - - - (805,998) (805,998) -
Sheriff Commissary 7,528 6,221 - - - (1,307) (1,307) -
Medical Care Facility 8,368,145 7,332,432 - 3,222,817 - 2,187,104 2,187,104 -
Total Business-type Activities 10,284,342 8,967,445 - 3,222,817 - 1,905,920 1,905,920 -
Total Primary Government $ 22,145,400 $ 12,460,781 $ 937,835 $ 3,361,889 (7,290,815) 1,905,920 (5,384,895) -
Component Units:
Road Commission $ 4,920,330 $ 838,608 $ 1,871,869 $ 2,502,638 292,785
Benzie/Leelanau Health Dept. 2,915,857 864,247 1,192,927 - (858,683)
Benzie Transportation Authority 1,730,687 135,367 944,686 171,920 ’ (478,714)
Economic Development Corporation 37,080 3,990 - - (33,090)
Total Component Units 9,603,954 1,842,212 4,009,482 2,674,558 (1,077,702)
Total $ 31,749,354 $ 14,302,993 $ 4947317 $ 6,036,447
General Revenues and Transfers:
Taxes - Real and Personal 7,426,728 2,132,833 9,559,561 1,583,843
Appropriations - - - 514,111
State Revenue Sharing 343,100 - 343,100 -
Investment Earnings (Loss) 7,833 18,443 26,276 8,483
Rent 108,902 - 108,902 320,147
Gain (Loss) on Disposal - - - 33,086
Transfers 182,889 (182,889) - -
Total General Revenues and Transfers 8,069,452 1,968,387 10,037,839 2,459,670
Changes in Net Position 778,637 3,874,307 4,652,944 1,381,968
Net Position - Beginning - Restated 11,522,698 11,652,742 23,175,440 15,937,329
Net Position - Ending $ 12,301,335 $ 15,527,049 $ 27,828384  $17,319,297

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 11



County of Benzie, Michigan

ASSETS:
Cash and Equivalents
Investments
Receivables:
Accounts
Loans
Taxes
Prepaid Items

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Unavailable Revenue - Loans

FUND BALANCES:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

TOTAL FUND BALANCES

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED
INFLOWS AND FUND BALANCES

Reconciliation to amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position:

Capital Assets used by Governmental Activities
Unavailable revenue - recognized as current revenue
Long-term Debt Payable for Governmental Activities
Net Pension Liability and Deferred Outflows
Vested Employee Benefits
Accrued Interest Payable

Net position of governmental activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
September 30, 2017
Nonmajor
Jail Governmental
General Operations Funds Total
$ 1,320,970 $ 95,784 $ 2,753,116 $ 4,169,870
- - 145,508 145,508
49,536 14,937 199,137 263,610
- - 865,932 865,932
657,911 - - 657,911
17,863 8,673 5,786 32,322
$ 2,046,280 $ 119,394 $ 3,969,479 $ 6,135,153
$ 182,594 $ 32,760 $ 172,089 $ 387,443
54,874 19,216 14,967 89,057
237,468 51,976 187,056 476,500
- - 865,932 865,932
17,863 8,673 5,786 32,322
- 58,745 2,418,556 2,477,301
- - 166,997 166,997
- - 325,152 325,152
1,790,949 - - 1,790,949
1,808,812 67,418 2,916,491 4,792,721
$ 2,046,280 $ 119,394 $ 3,969,479
11,314,373
865,932
(164,161)
(4,370,739)
(132,803)
(3,988)

12
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County of Benzie, Michigan

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Governmental Funds
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Nonmajor
Jail Governmental
General Operations Funds Total

REVENUES:

Taxes $ 4,566,255 $ 1,055,253 $ 1,805,220 $ 7,426,728

Licenses and Permits 45,736 - - 45,736

Federal Sources 50,366 - 332,951 383,317

State Sources 742,830 - 165,708 908,538

Local Sources - - 90,173 90,173

Contributions - - 37,979 37,979

Charges for Services 578,729 188,238 1,486,976 2,253,943

Refunds and Reimbursements 183,324 22,604 78,505 284,433

Interest and Rentals 5,053 - 111,682 116,735

Other Revenue - - 43,292 43,292

TOTAL REVENUES 6,172,293 1,266,095 4,152,486 11,590,874
EXPENDITURES:

Legislative 92,509 - - 92,509

Judicial 1,057,737 - 20,469 1,078,206

General Government 1,658,650 - 44,693 1,703,343

Public Safety 1,058,811 1,540,801 1,488,808 4,088,420

Public Works - - 699,046 699,046

Health and Welfare 430,236 - 1,044,156 1,474,392

Recreation and Cultural 7,442 - 19,190 26,632

Capital Outlay - - 521,753 521,753

Debt Service - - 604,122 604,122

Other Expenditures 1,406,392 - - 1,406,392

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 5,711,777 1,540,801 4,442 237 11,694,815
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES

OVER EXPENDITURES 460,516 (274,706) (289,751) (103,941)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):

Installment Loan Proceeds 26,026 14,790 15,497 56,313

Operating Transfers In 129,737 276,262 429,022 835,021

Operating Transfers Out (452,132) - (200,000) (652,132)
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES AND OTHER

FINANCING SOURCES OVER EXPENDITURES

AND OTHER FINANCING USES 164,147 16,346 (45,232) 135,261

FUND BALANCES, OCTOBER 1 1,644,665 51,072 2,961,723 4,657,460
FUND BALANCES, SEPTEMBER 30 $ 1,808,812 $ 67,418 $ 2,916,491 $ 4,792,721

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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County of Benzie, Michigan

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds

to the Statement of Activities

Year Ended September 30,2017

Net changes in fund balance - total governmental funds § 135261

The change in net position reported for governmental activities in the statement
is different because:

Governmental funds reported capital outlays as expenditures.

However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets

is capitalized and the cost of those assets is allocated over their

estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

This is the amount by which depreciation ($473,954) exceeded

capital outlay $393,319 and loss on disposal of ($11,461) in the current period. (92,096)

Repayment of principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds
but it reduces the liability in the statement of net position.

Principal repayments: .
Bonds Payable 395,000
Installments Payable 9,669

Proceeds of installment notes, bonds and bond premiums are an other financing
source in the governmental funds, in the statement of net position, it increases
liabilities.

Installment Proceeds (56,313)

Notes are recorded in the statement of activities as revenues
when executed; they are not reported in the funds until
collected or collectible within 60 days after year end. 865,932

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in governmental
funds, expenditures are not recognized for transactions that are not
normally paid with expendable available financial resources. In the
statement of activities, however, which is presented on the accrual
basis, expenses and liabilities are reported regardless of when financial
resources are available. In addition, interest on long-term debt is not
recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting until due,
rather than as it accrues. This adjustment combines the following

net changes:
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows (485,142)
Accrued Interest on Bonds 13,359
Amortization of Bond Premium 8,049
Vested Employee Benefits (15,082)

Changes in net position of governmental activities $ 778,637

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 14



County of Benzie, Michigan

ASSETS:
Cash and Equivalents - Unrestricted
Cash and Equivalents - Restricted
Investments
Receivables:
Accounts

Taxes
Interest

Prepaid Items

Other Assets

Capital Assets (Not Depreciated)

Capital Assets (Net of Accumulated Depreciation)

TOTAL ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension Investment Experience and Contributions

LIABILITIES:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Due to Others
Vested Employee Benefits - Due in more than one year
Net Pension Liability - Due in more than one year
Bonds Payable - Due within one year
Bonds Payable - Due in more than one year
Installment Payable - Due within one year
Instaliment Payable - Due in more than one year

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension Investment Experience

NET POSITION:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
September 30, 2017
Enterprise Funds
County Delinquent Emergency Nonmajor
Medical Care Tax Medical Enterprise
Facility Revolving Services Funds Totals
$ 1,227,537 $ 1,445,223 § 130,256 $ 885882 $ 3,688,898
314,083 - - - 314,083
- 3,046,850 - - 3,046,850
844,360 38,780 288,229 - 1,171,369
- 968,727 - - 968,727
- 103,316 - - 103,316
- - 3,591 - 3,591
137,644 - - - 137,644
12,424 - 35,000 - 47,424
13,964,760 - 651,146 - 14,615,906
16,500,808 5,602,896 1,108,222 885,882 24,097,808
824,065 - 142,273 - 966,338
270,676 - 193,004 600 464,280
-205,317 - 19,234 - 224,551
- 91,780 - - 91,780
147,612 - - - 147,612
1,951,360 - 696,564 - 2,647,924
325,000 - - - 325,000
5,195,000 - - - 5,195,000
- - 99,989 - 99,989
- - 184,679 - 184,679
8,094,965 91,780 1,193,470 600 9,380,815
156,282 - - - 156,282
8,457,184 - 401,478 - 8,858,662
616,442 5,511,116 (344,453) 885,282 6,668,387
$ 9,073,626 $ 5,511,116 $ 57,025 $ 885282 $ 15,527,049

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 15




County of Benzie, Michigan

OPERATING REVENUES:
Taxes and Penalties
Charges for Services
Interest and Rentals
Refunds and Reimbursements
Other Revenue

Total Operating Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Personal Services
Contractual Services
Utilities
Repair and Maintenance
Insurance
Other Supplies and Expenses
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Interest on Deposits
Impairment Loss
Interest and Fiscal Charges

Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Capital Contributions - Local
Operating Transfers In
Operating Transfers Out

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses):
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
NET POSITION - BEGINNING - RESTATED

NET POSITION - ENDING

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Net Position - Proprietary Funds
Year Ended September 30, 2017

Enterprise Funds
County Delinquent Emergency Nonmajor
Medical Care Tax Medical Enterprise
Facility Revolving Services Funds Totals
$ 1,189,082 - $ 943,751 $ - $ 2,132,833
7,289,695 83,518 949,166 353,568 8,675,947
- 218,293 - - 218,293
- - 30,468 - 30,468
42,737 - - - 42,737
8,521,514 301,811 1,923,385 353,568 11,100,278
5,657,817 - 1,239,755 16,560 6,914,132
517,292 - 58,021 - 575,313
170,017 - 23,241 - 193,258
70,139 - 93,861 - 164,000
; . 60,141 - 60,141
1,377,673 5,238 118,725 108,767 1,610,403
305,773 - 185,492 - 491,265
8,098,711 5,238 1,779,236 125,327 10,008,512
422,803 296,573 144,149 228,241 1,091,766
808 16,280 1 1,354 18,443
(69,434) - - - (69.,434)
(200,000) - (6,396) - (206,396)
(268,626) 16,280 (6,395) 1,354 (257,387)
154,177 312,853 137,754 229,595 834,379
3,222,817 - - - 3,222,817
- 14,020 - - 14,020
- (99,382) (5,990) (91,537) (196,909)
3,222,817 (85,362) (5,990) (91,537) 3,039,928
3,376,994 227,491 131,764 138,058 3,874,307
5,696,632 5,283,625 (74,739) 747,224 11,652,742
$ 9,073,626 $ 551L116 $ 57,025 $ 885,282  § 15,527,049
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County of Benzie, Michigan

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from Customers
Payments to Suppliers
Payments to Employees
Internal Activity - Receipts(Payments) with Other Funds

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Operating Transfers In

Operating Transfers Out

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Non-Capital and Related Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Acquisition of Capital Assets

Proceeds fron Sale of Capital Assets

Loan Proceeds

Principal Payments

Interest Payments

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of Investments
Interest Income

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Balances - Beginning of the Year

Balances - End of the Year

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Operating Income (Loss)
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Depreciation
Provision for Bad Debts
Amortization of Deferrals
Change in Assets and Liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in Assets and Deferred Outflows:
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid Items
Taxes Receivable
Due from Other Funds
Pension Investment Experience and Contributions
Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Due to Other Funds
Due to Other Governments
Net Pension Liability and Related Inflows & Outflows

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended September 30,2017

Enterprise Funds
County Delinquent Emergency Nonmajor
Medical Care Tax Medical Enterprise
Facility Revolving Services Funds Totals

$ 8,391,612 § 2,334351 $ 1,878,781 $ 354,168 $ 12,958,912

(574,843) (1,997,181) (195,075) (125,327) (2,892,426)
(6,388,152) - (1,163,636) - (8,051,788)
- 270,000 (200,000) - 70,000
928,617 607,170 320,070 228,841 2,084,698
- 14,020 - - 14,020
- (99,382) (5,990) (91,537) (196,909)
- (85,362) (5.990) (91,537 (182,889)
(83,640) - (387,167) - (470,807)
8,500 - - - 8,500
- . 187,189 - 187,189
(320,000 - (49,781) - (369,781)
(200,000) - (6,396) - (206,396)
(595,140) - (256,155) - (851,295)
. (1,616,723) - - (1,616,723)
808 16,280 1 1,354 18,443
808 (1,600,443) 1 1,354 (1,598,280)
334,285 (1,078,635) 57,926 138,658 (547,766)
1,207,335 2,523,858 72,330 747,224 4,550,747

$ 1,541,620 $ 1,445223 $ 130,256 $ 885882 $ 4,002,981

$ 422803 $ 296573 $ 144149 § 228241 § 1091766

305,773 - 185,492 - 491,265
38,015 - - - 38,015
149,024 - - - 149,024
(159,417) - (44,604) - (204,021)
(21,072) - - - (21,072)
- 39,496 - - 39,496
- 270,000 - 600 270,600
176,856 - 113,959 - 290,815
149,373 - 158,914 - 308,287
82,562 - 3,627 - 86,189
- - (200,000 - (200,000)
- 1,101 - - 1,101
(215,300) - (41,467) - (256,767

§ 928,617 $ 607,170 $ 320070 § 228,841 § 2,084,698
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County of Benzie, Michigan

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
September 30, 2017
Agency Funds
ASSETS:
Cash and Equivalents:
- Unrestricted $ 2,356,387
TOTAL ASSETS 8 2,356,387
LIABILITIES:
Due to Others $ 2,356,387
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 2,356,387

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 18
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County of Benzie, Michigan

ASSETS:
Cash and Equivalents - Unrestricted
Accounts Receivable
Notes Receivable
Due from Governmental Units
Inventories
Prepaid Items
Net Pension Asset
Capital Assets (Not Depreciated)
Capital Assets (Net of Accumulated Depreciation)

TOTAL ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Pension Investment Experience and Contributions

LIABILITIES:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Advances
Note Payable - Due within one year
Note Payable - Due in more than one year
Other Post Employment Benefits - Due in more than one year
Net Pension Liability - Due in more than one year
Vested Employee Benefits - Due in more than one year

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Pension Investment Experience

NET POSITION:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Unrestricted

TOTAL NET POSITION

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Statement of Net Position

Component Units

September 30, 2017
Benzie/
Leelanau Benzie Economic
Road District Transportation Development
Commission Health Dept. Authority Corporation Totals

$ 1,209,647 $ 269,440 $ 346,185 $ 2,431 $ 1,827,703
852,296 62,240 2,991 - 917,527

- - - 63,618 63,618

- 245,360 59,688 - 305,048

250,378 - 47,511 - 297,889

- 34,136 - - 34,136

- - 74,510 - 74,510

1,699,861 - - - 1,699,861
15,218,306 14,477 2,228,243 - 17,461,026
19,230,488 625,653 2,759,128 66,049 22,681,318
481,382 72,129 92,247 - 645,758
116,182 10,462 142,898 - 269,542
51,663 60,862 33,960 - 146,485
247,727 - - - 247,727
7,277 - - - 7,277
103,961 - - - 103,961
3,353 - - - 3,353
4,768,379 267,948 - - 5,036,327
74,051 85,938 - - 159,989
5,372,593 425210 176,858 - 5,974,661

- 2,784 30,334 - 33,118

16,925,444 14,477 2,228,243 - 19,168,164
(2,586,167) 255,311 415,940 66,049 (1,848,867)

$ 14,339,277 $ 269,788 $ 2,644,183 $ 66,049 $ 17,319,297

19



0z "SIUSTIRIE]S [BIDUBUL 0} sojou SulAuedwioose 90§
L6TOIELT §  6¥099 $  e8IVPOT §  88L'69T $  LLT6EEFT § Suipuj - uoyIsog PN
6TELEGST 0T1°66 LLIT9ST 18L°€62 1ST°T86°TT Supuu3ag - uonsod 18N
896°18¢°1 (120°ce) 9008 (€66°c) 9T0°LSET uonisod 19N Ul seduey)
0L9°65V°T 61 0TL09S 069°7€8 PTH90°1 SOMUSAY [BIOUSD) [EI0],
LY10ZE - - LP1°0TE - sy
980°€E - (82552 - #99°8¢ Tesodsi(J uo (ss07) uren
€318 61 €88 (457 6V1°L SBUTIIRY JUSUNSIAU]
£r8¢8S°1 - SIH68S - 8T¥366 £odold 1eay - saxe],
TIIYIs - - [AAN21Y - suogendoiddy Lunop
(SIRUIAIY [BI2UIN)
(TOLLLO'T) (060°¢E) FIL°8LY) (£89°858) S8LT6T 8SSVL9T $  T8K600Y §  CITTWST $  ¥S6°€09%6 spu() jusuodwo)) [0,
(060°¢E) (060°¢E) - - - - - 066°C 080°LE SpOM OFqnd
uoneaodio)) yusmdopaa( d1wouody
P1L78LY) - 1L°8LY) - - 026°TLT 989°%¥6 L9E'SET L89°0€L°T uonepodsueL],
LAroyiny uoneyiodsue.d ] A1zudg
(£89°858) - - (£89°358) - - LT6°T61°T LyTH98 LS8°S16°C SIBJ[OA PUE TpIeS]
do qI[BIH IPLISI(] REUB[I /AIZURY
S8LT6T $ - $ - $ - §  $8LT6T §  8€9T0ST $§ 698°TL8T $ 809%BE8  §  0£E0T6Y SSHOA 91qnd
UOISSIUIO)) ProY
18101, uonerodio)) Auoyny 1do(] YIedH UOISSIWTIO)) SUOTINGLIUO)) SUOTINGLIUO)) SOOIAISS sasuadxyg SWRIZ01J/SUONOUn,|
Jusurdoreas uonepodsuel],  JOLSY(T NEUB[OT peoy pue sjueIn) pue sjueI) JoJ se31et)
OTWIOUOdH srzuog jorzusg [ende)) Suneradp

uonIsod 1N ur seguer)
pue onu2AYYy (esuadxy) 19N

LT0T ‘0€ 1oquaydag papuy Jedx
syup) Juauoduwio)
SANIAIIY JO JUITI) RS

SaNUIAY WRIF0oIJ

UESOIA A1ZUdg JO AJuUno,)



Notes to Financial Statements



County of Benzie, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies of the County of Benzie, Michigan, conform to accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental entities. The following is a summary of the
significant accounting policies used by the County:

A — Reporting Entity:

The County of Benzie, Michigan was organized in 1869 and covers an area of approximately 316 square miles with
the County Seat located in Beulah, Michigan. The County operates under an elected Board of Commissioners of
seven (7) members and provides services, assistance, and care to its residents. As required by U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, these basic financial statements present the County of Benzie (primary government)
and its component units. The component units discussed below are included in the reporting entity because of the
significance of their operational or financial relationship with the County.

Component Units:

In conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, the financial statements of component units have
been included in the financial reporting entity either as blended component units or as discretely presented
component units.

Blended Component Units
County of Benzie Building Authority — The Authority is an entity legally separate from the County. The Authority

is governed by a board, appointed by the Commission and is reported as if it were part of the County’s operations
because its primary purpose is the procurement and management of debt financing for the County.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The component units column in the government-wide financial statements include the financial data of the other
component units of the County. The following is a summary of the component units:

Benzie County Economic Development Corporation — The Corporation is a legally separate non-profit corporation
whose primary purpose is to promote economic development in the County of Benzie. The board of the Economic
Development Corporation is appointed by the Board of Commissioners. The Corporation’s annual budget is
subject to the approval of the Board of Commissioners and is financially accountable to the County.

Benzie County Economic Development Corporation
448 Court Place
Beulah, Michigan 49617

Benzie County Road Commission — The members of the governing board of the Road Commission are elected by
the voters of Benzie County. Although the County does not have the authority to approve or modify the Road
Commission’s operational and capital budgets, bonded debt must be approved by the County Commission.
Complete financial statements of the individual component unit can be obtained from the following:

Benzie County Road Commission
11318 Main Street
Honor, Michigan 49640
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County of Benzie, Michigan
- ]

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Benzie — Leelanau District Health Department — The members of the governing body of the Health Department are
jointly appointed by the Benzie and Leelanau County Commissions. The Health Department’s operational and
capital budgets are not subject to approval or modification by any governmental entity, and it establishes fees for
various services and other activities. Complete financial statements of the individual component unit can be
obtained from the following:

Benzie/Leelanau Health Department
6051 Frankfort Hwy, Suite 100
Benzonia, Michigan 49616

Benzie Transportation Authority — The members of the governing board of the Bus System are appointed by the
County Board. The County does not exercise oversight responsibility and does not have accountability of fiscal
matters. Complete financial statements of the individual component unit can be obtained from the following:

Benzie Transportation Authority
14150 Honor Highway
Beulah, Michigan 49619

Jointly Governed Organization

City — County Airport — The City-County Airport Authority (the “Authority”), an entity legally separate from the
County, is governed by a seven-member board. Two members are appointed from the County; two members are
appointed from the City of Frankfort; two members are appointed from Crystal Lake Township, and the seventh
member is appointed by the other members.

For financial reporting purposes, the Authority is reported as a separate unit because the Authority can legally issue
debt (although it has a letter of understanding with the City of Frankfort that no debt will be issued); levy tax
revenue if desired; and adopt and amend its own budget. In the event of the Authority being dissolved, it will be
reverted to the City of Frankfort. The Authority operates on a June 30 year end.

Related Organization

Manistee — Benzie Mental Health — The Manistee — Benzie Mental Health is governed by a board whose voting
majority is appointed by the Manistee County Board of Commissioners.

B — Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units. For the most
part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, normally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities which rely
to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately
from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially accountable.
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County of Benzie, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment, are
offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or
segment. Program revenues include: (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit
from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment; and (2) grants and contributions that
are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenue.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds, even
though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental
funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

C — Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation:

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements. Revenue is
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related
cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and
the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recognized as soon as it is both measurable and available.
Revenue is considered to be available if it is collected within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay
liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are
collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a
liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, expenditures relating to
compensated absences, and claims and judgments are recorded only when payment is due.

Under the term of grant agreements, the County funds certain programs by a combination of specific cost-
reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are incurred,
there are both restricted and unrestricted net position available to finance the program. It is the County’s policy to
first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by categorical block grants, and then by
general revenues.

Taxes Receivable — Current or Property Taxes

The County of Benzie property tax is levied on each December 1* and July 1* on the taxable valuation of property
(as defined by State statutes) located in the County of Benzie as of the preceding December 31*.

Although the County of Benzie 2016 ad valorem tax is levied and collectible on December 1, 2016, and 2017 ad
valorem tax is levied and collectible on July 1, 2017, it is the County of Benzie’s policy to recognize revenue from
the current tax levy in the current year when the proceeds of this levy are budgeted and made “available” for the
financing of operations. “Available” means collected within the current period or expected to be paid from the
delinquent tax revolving funds within one year.
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County of Benzie, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The 2016 taxable valuation of the County of Benzie totaled $1,170,367,636, (not including renaissance zone) on
which ad valorem taxes levied consisted of 0.9976 mills for Medical Care Facility Debt and Operations, .6557 mills
for Commission on Aging, .8942 mills for Jail Operations, .0975 mills for Animal Control, .8000 mills for
Ambulance Millage, .0400 mills for Soldier Relief, .0993 mills for the Conservation District, 0.9936 mills for
Roads, and .0993 mills for TNT operations. These amounts are recognized in the respective General, Special
Revenue, Debt Service, and Enterprise Fund financial statements as tax revenue.

The July 1, 2017 taxable valuation of County of Benzie totaled $1,199,224,010, (not including renaissance zone)
on which ad valorem taxes levied consisted of 3.4692 mills for the General Fund, this amount is recognized in the
General Fund financial statements as revenue.

All other revenue items are considered to be available only when cash is received by the government.
The County reports the following major governmental funds:
General Fund

This is the County’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government,
except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Jail Operations Fund

This fund accounts for the operation of the jail.

The County reports the following major proprietary funds:

County Medical Care Facility

This fund accounts for the long-term care services provided to the residents of Benzie County.
Delinquent Tax Revolving Fund

This fund accounts for the collection of delinquent taxes.

Emergency Medical Services Fund

This fund accounts for ambulance services provided to the citizens of Benzie County.
Additionally, the County reports the following fund types:

Special Revenue Funds

The special revenue funds account for revenue sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for specific
purposes (not including major capital projects).

Debt Service Funds

The debt service fund accounts for the servicing of general long-term debt not financed by proprietary or permanent
trust funds.
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County of Benzie, Michigan

[ e e
Notes to Financial Statements

September 30, 2017

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Capital Project Fund

The capital project fund is used to account for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities (other than
those financed by proprietary funds).

Enterprise Funds

These funds account for the County’s business-type operations that provide services to residents of the County for a
fee.

Agency Funds

Agency Funds are used to account for assets held by the County as an agent for individuals, private organizations,
other governments, and/or other funds. Agency Funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not
involve measurement of results of operations.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the government’s tax collection function and
various other functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program
revenues reported for the various functions concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenue include: (1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services or
privileges provided; (2) operating grants and contributions; and (3) capital grants and contributions, including
special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenue rather than as program revenue.
Likewise, general revenue includes all taxes.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenue and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenue and
expenses generally result from providing services in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing
operations. The principal operating revenue of our proprietary funds relate to charges to customers for tax
collections. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, and administrative
expenses. All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenue and expenses.

D - Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance

Bank Deposits and Investments — Deposits and investments are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits,
and short-term investments with a maturity of three months or less when acquired. Investments are stated at fair
value. Pooled investment income from all funds and is allocated to each fund based on average cash balance.
Deposits are recorded at cost.

Receivables and Payables — In general, outstanding balances between funds are reported as “due to/from other
funds.” Activity between funds that is representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of
the fiscal year is referred to as “advances to/from other funds. Any residual balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and the business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as
“internal balances.”
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County of Benzie, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

All trade and property tax receivables are shown as net of allowance for uncollectible amounts. Property taxes are
levied on each December 1% and July 1 on the taxable valuation of property as of the preceding December 31%.
Taxes are considered delinquent on March 1% of the following year, at which time penalties and interest are
assessed.

Inventories and Prepaid Items — All inventories, including the cost of supplies, are expensed when purchased.
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid items in both
government-wide and fund financial statements.

Capital Assets — Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the applicable
governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are
defined by the government as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life
in excess of two years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or
constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation.

Property, plant, and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Buildings 40 to 60 years
Building Improvements 15 to 30 years
Vehicles 3 to 5 years
Office Equipment 5 to 7 years
Computer Equipment 3 to 7 years

Vested Emplovee Benefits Payable — County General Employees - The County’s employment policies provide for
vacation benefits to be earned in varying amounts depending on the employee’s years of service.

The annual vacation benefits earned by each employee during the current year are credited to the employee at year
end. Employees are required to use their vacation benefits within one year, except under special circumstances
where, with the approval of the Commission, some carry-over may be authorized.

The County’s employment policies provide for sick leave benefits to be earned at the rate of 64 hours applied on
January Ist. of each year. Payment for sick time upon separation of employment is disbursed according to the
separate union contracts covering sheriff department employees and the government center union employees. The
nonunion personnel are paid half of their accumulated sick time.

Long-Term Obligations — In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund types in the fund
financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable
governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.

Deferred Outflows of Resources — In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a
separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized
as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The government has pension items that qualify for
reporting in this category.

Deferred Inflows of Resources — In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and governmental funds
balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial
statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The government has
pension and deferred loan items that qualify for reporting in this category.
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County of Benzie, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Pensions — For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Pension
Plan and additions to/deductions from the fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by MERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Fund Balance Classification — The governmental fund financial statements present fund balances based on
classifications that comprise a hierarchy that is based primarily on the extent to which the County is bound to honor
constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in the respective governmental funds can be spent. The
classifications used in the governmental fund financial statements are as follows:

e Nonspendable: This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in
spendable form or (b) are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The County has
classified Prepaid Items as being Nonspendable as these items are not expected to be converted to cash
within the next vear. The County has $32,322 in Nonspendable fund balance.

e Restricted: This classification includes amounts for which constraints have been placed on the use of the
resources either (a) externally imposed by creditors (such as through a debt covenant), grantors,
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or (b) imposed by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation. The County has restricted $2,477,301 for fund and/or debt specific
purposes.

e Committed: This classification includes amounts that can be used only for specific purposes pursuant to
constraints imposed by formal action of the County. These amounts cannot be used for any other purpose
unless the County removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action that was
employed when the funds were initially committed. This classification also includes contractual
obligations to the extent that existing resources have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those
contractual requirements. The County has committed $166,997 for special fund purposes.

e Assigned: This classification includes amounts that are constrained by the County’s intent to be used for a
specific purpose but are neither restricted nor committed. This intent can be expressed by the County
through the budgetary process. This classification also includes the remaining positive fund balance for all
governmental funds except for the General Fund.

e Unassigned: This classification includes the residual fund balance for the General Fund. The unassigned
classification also includes negative residual fund balance of any other governmental fund that cannot be
eliminated by offsetting of Assigned fund balance amounts.

The County would typically use Restricted fund balances first, followed by Committed resources, and then
Assigned resources, as appropriate opportunities arise, but reserves the right to selectively spend Unassigned
resources first to defer the use of these other classified funds.

Unearned Revenues — Unearned revenues are those where asset recognition criteria have been met, but for which
revenue recognition criteria have not.

Grants and Other Intergovernmental Revenues — Federal grants and assistance awards for all governmental type
funds are recorded as intergovernmental revenue in accordance with the terms of the representative grants.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Interfund Transfers — During the course of normal operations, the County has numerous transactions between
funds, including expenditures and transfers of resources to provide services, construct assets, and service debt. The
accompanying financial statements generally reflect such transactions as operating transfers. The classification of
amounts recorded as subsidies, advances, or equity contributions is determined by County management.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
outflows, liabilities and inflows and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Budgetary Information — Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

Budgets and Budgetary Control — The County follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected
in the financial statements:

a.  Each August, after receiving input from the individual departments, the Board of Commissioners prepares a
proposed operating budget for the fiscal period commencing October 1 and lapses on September 30. The
operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.

b.  Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.
c.  Prior to October 1, the budget is legally enacted through a resolution passed by the Board of Commissioners.

d.  Budgetary control is exercised at the departmental level of the General Fund. Any revisions that alter the
total expenditures of any department or fund (i.e., budget amendments) require approval by the Board of
Commissioners. Such amendments are made in accordance with the procedures prescribed under Public Act
621 of 1978.

e.  The budget and approved appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year.

f. The County does not record encumbrances in the accounting records during the year as normal practice and,
therefore, no outstanding encumbrances exist at year end.

Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted or amended by the Board of Commissioners during the year.
Individual amendments were not material in relation to the original appropriations which were amended. The
modified accrual basis of accounting is used for budgetary purposes.

The General Fund revenue budget was adopted on the basis of activities or programs financed by the General Fund.

Michigan Public Act 621 of 1978 (the Budgeting Act) requires that budgets be adopted for Governmental Funds.
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the financial statements present budgetary comparisons
for the Governmental Fund Types for which budgets were legally adopted. The original budget adopted for the
General fund was modified throughout the year through various budget amendments.

The budget document presents information by fund, function, department and line items. The legal level of
budgetary control adopted by the governing body is the department level.
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NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

At year end, the County’s deposits and investments were reported in the basic financial statements in the following
categories:

Governmental — Business-type  Total Primary Fiduciary Component
Activities Activities Government Funds Units
Cash and Cash Equivalents -
Unrestricted $ 4,169,870 $§ 3,688,898 § 7,858,768 $ 2,356,387 § 1,827,703
Restricted - 314.083 314.083 - -
Total $ 4169870 $§ 4002981 $ 8172851 $§ 2356387 § 1,827,703

The breakdown between deposits and investments is as follows:

Primary Fiduciary Component
Government Funds Units
Bank Deposits (checking and savings
accounts, certificates of deposit, and
money markets) $ 8,171,351 $ 2,356,387 $ 1,826,638
Petty Cash and Cash on Hand 1.500 - 1.065
Total $ 8,172,851 $ 2,356,387 § 1,827.703
Years
Fair Value Less Than 1 1-5 6-—10 More Than 10
Investments:
Treasury Securities $ 3,192358 $§ 1491625 $ 1.700.733 $ -3 -
Total Investments $ 3,192.358 $ 1,491,625 $ 1,700,733 $ -3 -

Interest rate risk. The County does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a
means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.

Credit risk. State law limits investments in commercial paper, corporate bonds, and mutual bond funds to the top
two ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The County has no investment policy
that would further limit its investment choices. The County had investments in the following funds at September
30,2017:

Fund Name
MI-010257-0001 DTRF
MI-01-0257-0004 Jail Reserve
Anchor Bay Mich Sch Dist
Fed Home LN BK STEP
Credit Agricole CIB C/P
Abbey Natl Treas Srves PLC C/P

Ticker/CUSIP

S&P Rating

N/A
N/A
032879TC2
3130A9N23
22533UAG8
00280PCC7

AAAm
AAAmM
AA-
AA+
Al
Al

Custodial credit risk. Investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty,
the County will not be able to recover the value of its investments or securities that are in the possession of an

outside party.
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NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Custodial deposit credit risk. Custodial deposit credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the
County’s deposits may not be returned. State law does not require and the County does not have a policy for
deposit custodial credit risk. As of year end, $9,528,393 of the County’s bank balance of $11,037,602 was exposed
to credit risk because it was uninsured and uncollateralized. $1,509,209 was insured and collateralized by the
pledging financial institution.

Money market accounts are not rated investments and are not subject to custodial credit risk.

Fair value measurement. The County categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2
inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. Investments that
are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or equivalent) as a practical expedient are not
classified in the fair value hierarchy below.

In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the above fair value hierarchy, fair
value measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

measurements required judgement and considers factors specific to each asset or liability.

The County has the following fair value measurements as of September 30, 2017:

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Government Securities $ 1,193,556 $ - $ 1,193,566 $ -
Corporate Fixed Income 1,491,625 - 1,491,625
Municipal Bonds 507.177 - 507.177 -
Total $ 3,192358 $ - $ 3192358 % -

Statutory Authority:

An act (PA 152) to amend 1943 PA 20, entitled “An act relative to the investment of funds of public corporations
of the state; and to validate certain investments,” by amending section 1 (MCL 129.91), as amended by 2009 PA
21.

Except as provided in section 5, the governing body by resolution may authorize its investment officer to invest the
funds of that public corporation in one or more of the following:

a. Bonds, securities, and other obligations of the United States or an agency or instrumentality of the United
States.

b. Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, or depository receipts of a financial institution, but only if the
financial institution complies with subsection (2); certificates of deposit obtained through a financial institution
as provided in subsection (5); or deposit accounts of a financial institution as provided in subsection (6).

c. Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase within the two highest classifications established by not less
than two standard rating services and matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase.

d. Repurchase agreements consisting of instruments listed in subdivision (a).
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NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)
e. Bankers’ acceptances of United States banks.

f.  Obligations of this state or any of its political subdivisions that at the time of purchase are rated as investment
grade by not less than one standard rating service.

g. Mutual funds registered under the investment company act of 1940, 15 USC 80a-1 to 80a-64, with authority to
purchase only investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment by a public corporation. However, a
mutual fund is not disqualified as a permissible investment solely by reason of any of the following:

) The purchase of securities on a when-issued or delayed delivery basis.

(i1) The ability to lend portfolio securities as long as the mutual fund receives collateral at all times
equal to at least 100% of the value of the securities loaned.

(iiiy  The limited ability to borrow and pledge a like portion of the portfolio’s assets for temporary or
emergency purposes.

h. Obligations described in subdivisions (a) through (g) if purchased through an interlocal agreement under the
urban cooperation act of 1967, 1967 (Ex Sess) PA 7, MCL 124.501 to 124.512.

i. Investment pools organized under the surplus funds investment pool act, 1982 PA 367, MCL 129.111 to
129.118.

j. The investment pools organized under the local government investment pool act, 1985 PA 121, MCL 129.141
to 129.150. '

The County’s deposits and investment policy are in accordance with statutory authority.

These deposits are in various financial institutions in varying amounts. All accounts are in the name of the County
and specific funds. They are recorded in County records at cost. Interest is recorded when the deposits mature or is
credited to the applicable account.

NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the primary government for the current year was as follows:

Beginning Adjustments/ Ending
Balances Additions Deductions Balances
Governmental Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 5.931.926 $ - $ - % 5.931,926
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 8,595,660 - - 8,595,660
Land improvements 74,865 - - 74,865
Machinery and equipment 2.629,587 393,319 (47.287) 2,975,619
Subtotal 11,300,112 393.319 (47.287) 11,646.144
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NOTE 4- CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)
Beginning Adjustments/ Ending
Balances Additions Deductions Balances
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (3,825,288) (221,968) - (4,047,256)
Land improvements (19,183) (5,267) - (24,450)
Machinery and equipment (1.981.098) (246.719) 35.826 (2,191,991)
Subtotal (5.825.569) (473.954) 35.826 (6.263.697)
Net Capital Assets Being Depreciated 5.474.543 (80.635) (11.461) 5.382.447
Capital Assets — Net $ 11,406,469 §$ (80,635) $ (11.461) 11,314,373
Depreciation expense was charged to programs of the primary government as follows:
Governmental Activities:
Judicial $ 5,782
General Government 141,711
Public Safety 286,335
Public Works 11,160
Health and Welfare 7,262
Recreation and Culture 21.704
Total Governmental Activities $ 473,954
Beginning Adjustments/ Ending
Balances Additions Deductions Balances
Business-type Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 47,424 - - % 47,424
Construction in progress 3.914.673 - 3.914.673 -
Subtotal 3.962.097 - 3.914.673 47.424
Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements 91,661 68,604 12,165 148,100
Buildings and improvements 3,912,967 12,090,850 788,517 15,215,300
Machinery and equipment 2,316,346 1.288.843 592,079 3.013.110
Subtotal 6.320.974 13.448.297 1,392,761 18.376.510
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements (88,497) (2,498) 12,165 (78,830)
Buildings and improvements (2,599,571) (255,341) 720,931 (2,133,981)
Machinery and equipment (1.904.598) (233.426) 590,231 (1.547.793) -
Subtotal (4.592.666) (491.265) 1,323,327 (3.760.604)
Net Capital Assets Being Depreciated 1,728.308 12.957.032 69.434 14,615,906
Capital Assets — Net $ 5690405 $ 12,957,032 § 3,984,107 $ 14,663,330
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NOTE 4- CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)
Depreciation expense was charged to the business-type activities as follows:
Business-type Activities:
Medical Care Facility $ 305,773
Emergency Medical Services 185,492
Total Business-Type Activities $ 491,265

BENZIE COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION

Capital asset activity of the Benzie County Road Commission for the current year was as follows:

Beginning Adjustments/ Ending
Balances Additions Deductions Balances
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 12,708 § -3 - 8 12,708
Land Improvements 1,687.153 - - 1,687,153
Subtotal 1,699.861 - - 1,699.861
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 1,162,076 - - 1,162,076
Road Equipment 5,185,235 641,340 (416,384) 5,410,191
Shop Equipment 151,316 14,940 - 166,256
Office Equipment 54,590 4,693 - 59,283
Engineer’s Equipment 39,345 - - 39,345
Yard and Storage 245,442 197,732 - 443,174
Infrastructure 15.805.160 2.502.638 (118.005) 18.189.793
Subtotal 22.643.164 3,361,343 (534.389) 25,470,118
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings (1,044,146) (15,403) - (1,059,549)
Road Equipment (4,175,029) (378,643) 416,384 (4,137,288)
Shop Equipment (126,764) (10,805) T (137,569)
Office Equipment (41,589) (2,935) 220 (44,304)
Engineer’s Equipment (39,979) (1,907) 3,780 (38,106)
Yard and Storage (191,779) (10,419) - (202,198)
Infrastructure (3.892.684) (858.119) 118.005 (4.632.798)
Subtotal (9.511.970) (1,278.231) 538.389 (10.251.812)
Net Capital Assets Being Depreciated 13,131,194 2,083,112 4.000 15.218.306
Capital Assets — Net $ 14,831,055 $ 2,083,112 § 4,000 $ 16,918,167
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NOTE 4- CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)

Depreciation expense was charged to Public Works as follows:

Unallocated $ 858,119
Equipment 378,643
Administration 5,955
Other 35,514

Total $ 1278231

BENZIE/LEELANAU DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT

Capital asset activity of the Benzie/Leelanau District Health Department for the current year was as follows:

Beginning Adjustments/ Ending
; Balances Additions Deductions Balances
Capital assets being depreciated:
Other capital assets:
Equipment & furniture $ 45552  $ - 3 - % 45,552
Subtotal 45,552 - - 45,552
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Equipment & furniture (28.958) (2,117) - (31,075)
Subtotal (28.958) (2.117) - (31.075)
Net Capital Assets $ 16,594 §$ 2117) § - 3 14477

Depreciation expense was charged to:

Health and Welfare $ 2,117

BENZIE TRANSPORATION AUTHORITY

Capital asset activity of the Benzie Transportation Authority for the current year was as follows:

Beginning Adjustments/ Ending
Balances Additions Deductions Balances
Capital assets being depreciated:
Building and improvements $ 2,104240 % 25347  § - $ 2,129,587
Vehicles 1,757,729 211,517 (292,296) 1,676,950
Shop equipment 94,539 - - 94,539
Office equipment 92.439 30.083 - 122,522
Subtotal 4.048.947 266.947 (292.296) 4.023.598
Less accumulated depreciation (1.888.212) (160.,248) 253.105 (1,795,355)
Net Capital Assets $§ 2160735 § 106,699 § (39,191) § 2228243
Depreciation expense was charged to:
Transportation $ 160,248
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NOTE S - INTERFUND TRANSFERS

All balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments between
funds are made.

Emergency
Nonmajor Medical Nonmajor
General Governmental DTRF Services Enterprise Total
General $ -3 - $ 48200 $ -5 81,537 § 129,737
Jail Operations 276,262 - - - - 276,262
Nonmajor Governmental 161,850 200,000 51,182 5,990 10,000 429,022
Delinquent Tax Revolving 14.020 - - - - 14.020
Total $ 452,132 § 200,000 $ 99382 §$ 5990 $ 91,537 § 849,041

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the fund that
statute or budget requires to expend them, (2) moves receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the
receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due, and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected
in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary
authorizations.

NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT

General Obligation Debt

Governmental activities general obligation debt consists of general obligation bonds of the Building Authority and
installment loans for equipment. Business-type activities general obligation debt consists of installment loans for
equipment.

Installment Loans

The County has purchased vehicles and equipment used for governmental activities using commercial notes
payable with annual principal payments ranging from $4,366 to $15,496, plus interest charges at 1.35% to 5.83%.
The business-type activities have purchased an ambulance and equipment using commercial notes payable with
annual principal payments ranging from $11,325 to $64,366, plus interest charged at 2.79% to 3.55%.
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

General obligation and installment payables debt outstanding is as follows:

Interest Principal Beginning Ending
Rate Matures Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Due
Within
One Year

Governmental Activities:
General Obligation Bonds
1998 Building
Authority Bonds 3.60-4.95% 2018 $ 165,000 $ -5 (75,000) $ 90,000
Installment Loans payable to ‘
Financial Institutions, yearly
installments of $4,366 to
$15,498 secured by equipment. 1.35-5.83% Various 27.517 56,313 (9.669) 74,161

&

90,000

53.467

Total Governmental
Activities $ 192,517 $ 56313 § (84.669) $ 164,161

e

143.467

Business-Type Activities:
General Obligation Bonds
2014 Building
Authority Bonds 3.00-4.00% 2030 $ - $§  5840,000 $ (320,000) $ 5,520,000
Installment Loans payable to
Financial Institutions
Life Pak Monitors - Monthly
installments of $2,852,
secured by equipment. 3.55% 2017 11,325
Ambulance - Monthly
installments of $3,480,

o

(11,325) -

325,000

secured by the vehicle. 2.79%% 2020 135,936 - (38,457) 97,479 39,542
Ambulance — Yearly
Installments of $66,419,
Secured by the vehicle 3.19% 2020 - 187.189 - 187.189 60,447
Total Business-Type Activities $ 147261 $ 6,027,189 $ (369.782) $ 5804668 $ 424,989
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the above obligations are as follows:
Governmental Activities Governmental Activities Business —type Activities
Bonds Payable Installment Note Payable Bonds Payable
Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
Fiscal:
2018 $ 90,000 $ 4,455 $ 53,467 $ 2,550 $ 325,000 $ 190,400
2019 - - 12,355 783 340,000 180,650
2020 - - 5,186 350 355,000 170,450
2021 - - 3,153 61 370,000 159,800
2022 - - - - 380,000 148,700
2023-2027 - - - - 2,175,000 552,262
2028-2030 - - - - 1,575,000 128.000
TOTALS $ 90.000 $ 4455 $ 74,161 $ 3,744 $§ 5,520,000 § 1,530,262
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Business—type Activities
Installment Note Payable
Principal Interest
Fiscal:
2018 $ 99,989 § 8,189
2019 103,036 5,142
2020 81,643 2,173
2021 - -
2022 - -
2023-2027 - -
2028-2030 - -
TOTALS $ 284,668 $ 15,504
Vested Employee Benefits — Governmental Activities
A summary of vested benefits payable at September 30, 2017 is as follows:
Beginning Net Ending
Balances Additions Reductions Balances
Vested Employee Benefits $ 117,721 § 15,082 $ - 3 132,803
Vested Employee Benefits — Business-type Activities
A summary of vested benefits payable at September 30, 2017 is as follows:
Beginning Net Ending
Balances Additions Reductions Balances
Vested Employee Benefits $ 125369 § 22243  § - 3 147,612

BENZIE COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION

The following is a summary of pertinent information concerning the Road Commission's long-term debt.

Due
Beginning Ending Within
Balance Additions _Reductions Balance One Year

Installment payable to Finance
Company, 2.69% interest rate,
payable in monthly installments of
$848, secured by equipment. $ 118305 §$ - $ 7,067 $ 111,238 § 7277
Vested Employee Benefits 40,480 33.571 - 74,051

TOTAL $ 158785 $ 33571 $ 7,067 $_ 185,289
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BENZIE/LEELANAU DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT

The following is a summary of pertinent information concerning the Benzie/Leelanau District Health Department's long-
term debt.

Beginning Net Ending

Balances Additions Reductions Balances
Vested Employee Benefits $ 74575 $ 11363 $ - 3 85,938
NOTE 7 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The County is a voluntary member of the Michigan Municipal Risk Management Authority (MMRMA) (the
“Authority”). The County makes annual contributions to MMRMA based on actuarial studies using historical data
and insurance industry statistics. Such contributions as received by MMRMA are allocated between its general and
member retention funds. FEconomic resources in the MMRMA’s general fund are expended or reinsurance
coverage, claim payments and certain general and administrative costs, whereas resources in the member retention
fund are used for loss payments and defense costs up to the members’ self-insured retention limits along with
certain other member-specific costs.

The Authority has reserved fund balance to pay losses incurred by members that exceed individual retention levels
and are not covered under existing reinsurance agreements. Losses incurred within the established limits are
general obligations of the Authority. In the event that the County incurs loss in excess of the resources available,
the Authority as a whole (i.e. all constituent municipalities) is liable for the excess. In the event that the Pool’s
claims and expenses for a policy year exceed the total normal annual premiums for said years, all members of the
specific Pool’s policy year may be subject to special assessments to make up the deficiency. The County has not
been informed of any special assessments being required.

In addition, the Authority has accumulated resources to create and fund an internal stop loss fund. The stop loss
fund was initiated to eliminate the need to purchase aggregate reinsurance for aggregate losses paid in excess of
$178,000, net of reinsurance recoveries for any one member in any one year. Aggregate paid losses in excess of
$178,000 net of reinsurance recoveries are paid entirely form the internal stop loss fund. If at any time the stop loss
fund is insufficient to fund the County’s losses, the remaining liability shall become the responsibility of the
Authority as a whole.

At September 30, 2017, the County has funds on deposit of $178,000 with the Authority and reserves for reported

claims of $178,000. Management has not recorded the net of these amounts in the financial statements, as the
amount has been deemed immaterial.

38



County of Benzie, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

NOTE 8 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are lawsuits pending in which the County is involved. The County estimates that the potential claims against
the County not covered by insurance resulting from such litigation would not materially affect the financial
statements of the County.

The County participates in a number of federal and state assisted grant programs, which are subject to financial and
compliance audits. The disbursement of funds received under these programs generally requires compliance with
terms and conditions specified in the grant agreements and are subject to audit by the grantor agencies. The
amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this
time, although the County expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

General Information about the Pension Plan

Plan Description. The employer’s defined benefit pension plan provides certain retirement, disability and death
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. The employer participates in the Municipal Employees Retirement
System (MERS) of Michigan. MERS is an agent multiple-employer, statewide public employee pension plan
established by the Michigan Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a nine member
Retirement Board. MERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and
required supplementary information.  This report may be obtained accessing the MERS website at
www.mersofmich.com.

2016 Valuation

Benefit Multiplier: 2.50% Multiplier (80% max)
Normal Retirement Age: 60
Vesting: 8 Years
Early Retirement (Unreduced): -
Early Retirement (Reduced): 50/25
55/15
Final Average Compensation: 5 years
Employee Contributions 6.00%
Act 88: Yes (Adopted 4/18/2000)

2016 Valuation
Benefit Multiplier: 2.50% Multiplier (80% max)
Normal Retirement Age: 60
Vesting: 8 Years
Early Retirement (Unreduced): 25 and Out
Early Retirement (Reduced): 55/15
Final Average Compensation: 5 years
Employee Contributions 6.00%
Act 88: Yes (Adopted 4/18/2000)
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):

Final Average Compensation:
Employee Contributions
Act 88:

Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):

Final Average Compensation:
Employee Contributions
Act 88:

Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):

Final Average Compensation:
Employee Contributions
Act 88:

Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):

Final Average Compensation:
Employee Contributions
Act 88:
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216 Valuation

2.50% Multiplier (80% max)
60

8 Years

50/25

50/25

55/15

5 years

6.00%

Yes (Adopted 4/18/2000)

-

2016 Valuation

2.25% Multiplier (80% max)
60
8 Years

50/25

55/15

5 years

6.00%

Yes (Adopted 4/18/2000)

16 Valuation

2.50% Multiplier (80% max)
60
8 Years

50/25

55/15

5 years

6.00%

Yes (Adopted 4/18/2000)

2016 Valuation

2.00% Multiplier (no max)
60

10 Years

55125

50/25

55/15

5 years

6.00%

Yes (Adopted 4/18/2000)
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Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):
Final Average Compensation:
Employee Contributions

Act 88:

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30,2017

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

=

201a uatl

2.50% Multiplier (80% max)
60

8 Years

25 and Out

55/15

5 years

6.00%

Yes (Adopted 4/18/2000)

Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):

Final Average Compensation:
Employee Contributions

Act 88:

Emplovees Covered by Benefit Terms

2016 Valuation

2.00% Multiplier (no max)
60

10 Years

55/25

50/25

55/15

5 years

6.00%

Yes (Adopted 4/18/2000)

At December 31, 2016, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits

Active employees

Funding Policy

73
36
83
192

The obligation to contribute to and maintain the system for these employees was established by negotiation with the
County’s competitive bargaining unit and personnel policy, which require employees to contribute to the plan. The
County is required to contribute on a monthly basis at an actuarially determined rate.

Courthouse Employees $2,959
Sheriff Dept. $11,558
Elected Officials $10,002
Commissioners $1,647

41

Non Union & Non Elected $17,267
Courthouse Employees after 10/01/12  $1,460
COAM $14,567
Sheriff Department after 10/01/011 $4,582



County of Benzie, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

Net Pension Liability

The County’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total pension liability used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.5%
Salary increases 3.75% in the long-term
Investment rate of return 7.75%, net of investment and

administrative expense including inflation

Although no specific price inflation assumptions are needed for the valuation, the 3.75% long-term wage inflation
assumption would be consistent with a price inflation of 3% - 4%.

Mortality rates used were based on the RP-2014 Group Annuity Mortality Table of a 50% Male and 50% Female
blend. '

The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience study
0f2009-2013.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model method in which
the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment and
administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic
real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Global Equity 575% T 5.02%

Global Fixed Income 20.0% 2.18%
Real Assets 12.5% 4.23%
Diversifying Strategies 10.0% 6.56%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 8.00% for 2016. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions well be made at
the rates agreed upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates for employers. Based on these
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay all projected future
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension
liability.
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)
Changes in the Net Pension Liability:

Increases (Decreases)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability

Balances at December 31, 2015 $ 17,025,851 $ 10,329,069 $ 6,696,782

Service cost 367,231 - 367,231

Interest on total pension liability 1,340,551 - 1,340,551
Changes in benefits (110,144) - (110,144)
Difference between expected and actual experience (153,120) - (153,120)

Changes in assumptions - - -
Employer contributions - 547,413 (547,413)
Employee contributions - 133,061 (133,061)
Net investment income - 1,169,835 (1,169,835)

Benefit payments, including employee refunds (905,096) (905,096) -

Administrative expense - (23,099) 23,099

Other Changes 1 1 -
Net changes 539,423 922,115 (382,692)

Balances as of December 31, 2016 $ 17,565,274 $ 11,251,184  $ 6,314,090

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the net pension
liability of the County, calculated using the discount rate of 8.00%, as well as what the County’s net pension
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (7.00%) or 1-
percentage-point higher (9.00%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Increase
(7.00%) (8.00%) (9.00%)
County’s net pension liability $8,400,061 $6,314,090 $4,559,170

Note: The current discount rate shown for GASB 68 purposes is higher than the MERS assumed rate of return.
This is because for GASB purposes, the discount rate must be gross of administrative expenses, whereas for
funding purposes, it is net of administrative expenses.

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued MERS financial report.
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Notes to Financial Statements
September 30,2017

NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
For the year ended September 30, 2017, the County recognized pension expense of $1,131,984. At September 30,

2017, the County reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 119,887  § -
Changes in assumptions 413,295 -

Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on pension plan investments 414,778 -
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 441,100 -
Total $ 1,389,060 $ -

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recorded in pension expense as follows:

Year Ended September 30:
2018 $ 460,724
2019 460,724
2020 97,195
2021 (70,683)
NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

BENZIE COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION

Description of Plan and Plan Assets

The Road Commission is in an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan with the Municipal
Employees’ Retirement System (MERS). The system provides the following provisions: normal retirement,
deferred retirement and service retirement to plan members and their beneficiaries. The service requirement is
computed using credited service at the time of termination of membership multiplies by the sum of 2.0% or 1.0%
times the final compensation (FAC). The most recent period of which actuarial data was available was for year
ended December 31, 2016.
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

General Information about the Pension Plan

Plan Description. The employer’s defined benefit pension plan provides certain retirement, disability and death
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. The employer participates in the Municipal Employees Retirement
System (MERS) of Michigan. MERS is an agent multiple-employer, statewide public employee pension plan
established by the Michigan Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a nine member
Retirement Board. MERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and
required supplementary information. This report may be obtained by accessing the MERS website at
www.mersofmich.com.

) R

2016 Valuation
Benefit Multiplier: 2.00% Multiplier (no max)
Normal Retirement Age: 60
Vesting: 10 Years
Early Retirement (Unreduced): 55/25
Early Retirement (Reduced): 50/25

55/15
Final Average Compensation: 5 years
Employee Contributions: 0%
Act 88: No

2016 Valuation
Benefit Multiplier: 1.50% Multiplier (no max)
Normal Retirement Age: 60
Vesting: 10 Years
Early Retirement (Unreduced): -
Early Retirement (Reduced): 50/25
55/15
Final Average Compensation: 5 years
Employee Contributions 2.82%
Act 88: No

Benefit Multiplier: 2.00% Multiplier (no max)
Normal Retirement Age: 60
Vesting: 10 Years
Early Retirement (Unreduced): 55725
Early Retirement (Reduced): 50/25
55/15
Final Average Compensation: 3 years
Employee Contributions 0%
Act 88: No
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

Benefit Multiplier:

Normal Retirement Age:
Vesting:

Early Retirement (Unreduced):
Early Retirement (Reduced):
Final Average Compensation:
Employee Contributions

Act 88:

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

2016 Valuation

Hybird Plan - 1.00% Multiplier
60
6 Years

3 years
0%
No

. At December 31, 2016, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 42
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 10
Active employees 29

81

Funding Policy

The obligation to contribute to and maintain the system for these employees was established by negotiation with the
Road Commission’s competitive bargaining unit and personnel policy, which require employees to contribute to the

plan. The Road Commission is required to contribute at
The contribution rate as a fixed dollar amount of payroll
General
Management
Commissioners
New Hires

Total

Net Pension Liability

The Road Commission’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total pension liability

an actuarially determined rate.
at September 30, 2017 is as follows:

$ 20,704
6,268
75

1,743

$ 28,790

used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined

using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return

2.50%
3.75% in the long term

7.75%, net of interest and administrative

expense including inflation
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

Mortality rates used were based on the RP-2014 Group Annuity Mortality Table of a 50% Male and 50% Female
blend. For disabled retirees, the RP-2014 mortality table is used with a 10-year set forward in ages to reflect the
higher expected mortality rates of disabled members.

The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience study
of January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2013.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model method in which
the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment and
administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic
real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Global Equity 57.5% 5.02%
Global Fixed Income 20.0% 2.18%
Real Assets 12.5% 4.23%
Diversifying Strategies 10.0% 6.56%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 8.00% for 2016. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions well be made at
the rates agreed upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates for employers. Based on these
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay all projected future
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension
liability.
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)
Changes in the Net Pension Liability:

Increases (Decreases)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability

Balances at December 31, 2015 $ 7,460,412 $ 2,598,755 $ 4,861,657

Service cost 70,256 - 70,256

Interest on total pension liability 575,677 - 575,677

Changes in benefits - - -

Difference between expected and actual experience 17,052 - 17,052

Changes in assumptions - - -
Employer contributions - 476,657 (476,657)
Employee contributions - 291 (291)
Net investment income - 284,956 (284,956)

Benefit payments, including employee refunds (599,144) (599,144) -

Administrative expense - (5,641) 5,641
Net changes 63,841 157,119 (93,278)

Balances as of December 31, 2016 $ 7,524,253 $ 2,755,874 $ 4,768,379

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the net pension
liability of the Road Commission, calculated using the discount rate of 8.00%, as well as what the Road
Commission’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (7.00%) or 1-percentage-point higher (9.00%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Increase
(7.00%) (8.00%) (9.00%)
Road Commission’s net pension $5.455,018 $4.768.379 $4.175,895

liability

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued MERS financial report.

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
For the year ended September 30, 2017, the Road Commission recognized pension expense of $588,912. At

September 30, 2017, the Road Commission reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 11,368  §$ -
Changes in assumptions - -

Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on pension plan investments 65,258 -
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 404,756 -
Total $ 481,382  $ -

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recorded in pension expense as follows:

Year Ended September 30:
2018 $ 51,598
2019 41,460
2020 (16,432)

Annual Pension Costs — For fiscal year ended 2017, the Benzie County Road Commission’s annual pension cost
of $476,657 for the plan was equal to the required contribution. The annual required contribution was determined
as part of an actuarial valuation as December 31, 2014, using the entry age normal cost method. Significant
actuarial assumptions used include: (i) an 8% investment rate of return; (ii) projected salary increases of 4.5 percent
per year. Both determined using techniques that smooth the effects of short-term volatility over a four-year period.
The unfunded actuarial liability is being amortized as a level percent of payroll on a closed basis. The remaining
amortization period is 24 years.

BENZIE/LEELANAU DISTRICT HEALTH DEPARTMENT

General Information about the Pension Plan

Plan Description. The employer’s defined benefit pension plan provides certain retirement, disability and death
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. The employer participates in the Municipal Employees Retirement
System (MERS) of Michigan. MERS is an agent multiple-employer, statewide public employee pension plan
established by the Michigan Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a nine member
Retirement Board. MERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and
required supplementary information.  This report may be obtained accessing the MERS website at
www.mersofmich.com.

49



County of Benzie, Michigan

Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2017

NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

20
Benefit Multiplier: 2.25% Multiplier (80 % max)
Normal Retirement Age: 60
Vesting: 10 Years
Early Retirement (Unreduced): 55/25
Early Retirement (Reduced): 50/25
55/15
Final Average Compensation: 5 years
Employee Contributions 0%
Act 88: Yes (Adopted 3/28/2002)

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

At December 31, 2016, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: -

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits -
Active employees

Funding Policy

The obligation to contribute and maintain the system for these employees was established by the personnel policy;
currently no employee contribution is required.

Net Pension Liability

The Health Department’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 3.75% in the long term
Investment rate of return 7.75%, net of investment and

administrative expenses including inflation

Although no specific price inflation assumptions are needed for the valuation, the 2.5% long-term wage inflation
assumption would be consistent with a price inflation of 3% - 4%.

Mortality rates used were based on the RP-2014 Group Annuity Mortality Table of a 50% Male and 50% Female
blend.

The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience study
of 2009 —2013.
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model method in which
the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment and
administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic
real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Global Equity 57.5% 5.02%
Global Fixed Income 20.0% 2.18%
Real Assets 12.5% 4.23%
Diversifying Strategies 10.0% 6.56%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 8.00% for 2016. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions well be made at
the rates agreed upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates for employers. Based on these
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay all projected future
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension
liability.

Changes in the Net Pension Liability:

Increases (Decreases)

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability
Balances at December 31, 2015 $ 912,924 $ 638,199 $ 274,725
Service cost 22,216 - 22,216
Interest on total pension liability 72,853 - 72,853
Changes in benefits - - -
Difference between expected and actual experience 1,545 - 1,545
Changes in assumptions - - -
Employer contributions - 31,254 (31,254)
Employee contributions - - -
Net investment income - 73,589 (73,589)
Benefit payments, including employee refunds (26,751) (26,751) -
Administrative expense - (1,451) 1,451
Other changes 1 - 1
Net changes 69,864 76,641 (6,777)
Balances as of December 31,2016 $ 982,788 % 714,840 $ 267,948
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NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND BENEFIT SYSTEMS (Continued)

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the net pension
liability of the Health Department, calculated using the discount rate of 8.00% , as well as what the Health
Department’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (7.00%) or 1-percentage-point higher (9.00%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Increase
(7.00%) (8.00%) (9.00%)
Health Department’s net pension $382,733 $267.948 $165.970

liability
Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued MERS financial report.

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended September 30, 2017, the Health Department recognized pension expense of 364,028. At
September 30, 2017, the Health Department reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred

Outflows of Inflows of

Resources Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ - $ 2,784
Changes in assumptions 19,483 -

Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on pension plan investments 24,791 -
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 27,855 -
Total $ 72,129 $ 2,784

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recorded in pensio